

LICENCE TO McMASTER UNIVERSITY

First Name: Sophie		Family Name:	Enright
Program:	Medical Sciences	Degree:	MSc
Supervisor:	Geoff Werstuck	Defence date:	2023/09/18

IN THE INTERESTS of facilitating research by others at this institution and elsewhere, and in consideration of my being accepted for enrolment as a graduate student at this institution, I hereby grant a licence to:

McMaster University

to make copies of my graduate thesis/dissertation (or substantial parts thereof) and to reproduce it on the web (or any future method of dissemination), the copyright of which is vested in me, provided that this licence is subject to the following conditions:

1. Only single copies shall be made or authorized to be made at any one time, and only in response to a request from the library or any university or similar institution on its own behalf or on behalf of one of its users.

2. This licence shall continue for the full term of the copyright, or for as long as may be legally permitted.

3. The Universal Copyright Notice shall appear on all copies made under the authority of this licence.

4. This licence does not permit the sale of authorized copies at a profit, but does permit the collection by the institution or institutions concerned of charges covering actual cost.

5. All copies made under the authority of the licence bear a statement to the effect that the copy in question "is being made available in this form by authority of the copyright owner solely for the purposes of private study and research and may not be copied or reproduced except as permitted by the copyright laws without written authority from the copyright owner".

6. The foregoing shall in no way preclude the granting by the author of a licence to the National Library of Canada to reproduce the thesis or dissertation and to lend or to sell copies of the same. For this purpose it shall also be permissible for McMASTER UNIVERSITY to submit the above mentioned thesis or dissertation to the National Library of Canada.

Signature of Witness

Jophie Eyts

Signature of Student

2023/09/18

2023/09/22

Date

Date

EFFECTS OF SEX HORMONES ON MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION AND FUNCTION

INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTS OF SEX HORMONE SUPPLEMENTATION ON BONE MARROW-DERIVED MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION AND PRO-ATHEROGENIC FUNCTION

By: SOPHIE ENRIGHT, BMSc

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Sophie Enright, September 2023

McMaster University MASTER OF SCIENCE (2023) Hamilton, Ontario

(Medical Sciences)

TITLE: Investigating the effects of sex hormone supplementation on bone marrow-derived macrophage polarization and pro-atherogenic function

AUTHOR: Sophie Enright, BMSc (University of Western Ontario)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Geoff H. Werstuck

NUMBER OF PAGES: xiv, 84

LAY ABSTRACT

The risk and presentation of heart disease are different in men and women.

Understanding the underlying reasons for these sex differences will allow us to improve clinical strategies to better care for patients with heart disease. Scientists believe that sex hormones, including estrogen and testosterone, affect how heart disease develops in the body over time. Macrophages, which are cells involved in inflammation, guide the progression of heart disease. We believe that sex hormones interact with macrophages and modulate the development of heart disease. This study demonstrates that estrogen and testosterone do alter macrophage functions that relate to heart disease. Sex hormones appeared to have a beneficial effect on these cell functions and may play a protective role in heart disease. This study is significant because it i) provides insight into the complicated role that sex hormones play in heart disease, and ii) provides a baseline for future research on this topic.

ABSTRACT

Atherosclerosis, the main underlying cause of most cardiovascular disease (CVD), is characterized by progressive inflammation of the vascular intima. Macrophages are inflammatory cells centrally involved in atherogenesis. Macrophage polarization into proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory phenotypes has a significant impact on disease progression. Sex differences in the development and progression of CVD are well established, but the effects of sex hormones on macrophage polarization and pro-atherogenic functions are not well described. We hypothesized that sex hormones directly modulate macrophage polarization and pro-atherogenic function, and thereby regulate the progression of atherosclerosis.

Bone marrow-derived monocytes from adult male and female C57BL/6 mice were differentiated into macrophages using macrophage colony-stimulating factor (20 ng/mL) and pre-treated with either 17 β -estradiol (100 nM), testosterone (100 nM), or a vehicle control for 24 hours. Pre-treated macrophages were polarized into the pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory phenotypes and the effects of sex hormone supplementation on gene expression of macrophage phenotypic markers were assessed using RT-qPCR. Protein concentration of inflammatory markers including IL-1 β was quantified using an addressable laser bead immunoassay. A Transwell migration assay was employed to determine changes in macrophage migration, and changes in lipid accumulation were determined by cell staining and fluorescence microscopy.

Sex differences were observed in macrophage polarization, inflammatory responses, migration, and lipid accumulation. Pre-treatment with 17β -estradiol significantly impaired gene expression of pro-inflammatory macrophage markers and production of IL-1 β in proinflammatory macrophages. In anti-inflammatory macrophages, 17β -estradiol significantly upregulated expression of anti-inflammatory markers and enhanced cell migration. Pre-treatment

iv

with testosterone enhanced anti-inflammatory marker mRNA expression in anti-inflammatory macrophages and impaired production of IL-1 β by pro-inflammatory macrophages. Our observations suggest a protective role of 17 β -estradiol and testosterone in atherogenesis and may contribute to the sexual dimorphisms in CVD observed in human patients.

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The completion of this thesis would not have been possible without the support and guidance of several people. I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Geoff Werstuck for providing me with the opportunity to pursue a research project that aligned exactly with my research interests. His guidance throughout my degree and his confidence in my ability allowed me to develop as a researcher. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Sandeep Raha and Dr. Fox-Robichaud, for their continuous support on my project. Their thought-provoking contributions resulted important research interpretations and helped me develop a broader understanding of my area of study.

Next, I would like to acknowledge and thank all members, past and present, of the Werstuck lab, for their contributions to my research experience. Thank you to Dr. Daniel Venegas Pino, Dr. Monica De Paoli, Dr. Lauren Mastrogiacomo, Dr. Sarvatit Patel, and Rangana Talpe Guruge for their time and patience in passing down laboratory techniques essential to my research, as well as their friendship throughout my degree. To all other lab members and the greater TAARI research group, I am grateful for the friendships that were fostered. I would like to acknowledge and thank Roniya Sebastian for her substantial contribution to the image analysis in this project.

Further, I would like to recognize my family and friends for their love and support. I am endlessly grateful to my parents and siblings for their belief in me as a scientist and for their encouragement to persevere. To my closest of friends, I appreciate all of your support over the past two years. To my newfound community at McMaster, thank you.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Cardiovascular Disease and Atherosclerosis	1
1.1.1 Atherogenesis	1
1.2 Monocyte Differentiation and Macrophage Polarization	4
1.2.1 Pro-Inflammatory Macrophages	5
1.2.2 Anti-Inflammatory Macrophages	6
1.2.3 Significance of Phenotypic Distribution in Atherosclerotic Lesions	7
1.2.4 Macrophage Functions in Atherosclerotic Plaque Development	9
1.3 Sex Differences in Atherosclerosis and their Clinical Significance	.0
1.3.1 Estrogen 1	.0
1.3.2 Testosterone 1	.3
1.3.3 Preclinical Observations of Sex Differences in Atherosclerosis 1	.4
2. RESEARCH HYPOTHESIS 1	.9
2.1 Research Objectives 1	.9
3. METHODS	21
3.1 Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophage Isolation and Polarization	21
3.2 Hormone Pre-Treatment	22
3.3 Analysis of Gene Expression	23
3.4 Cytokine/Chemokine Detection	24
3.5 Macrophage Migration Assay 2	25

	3.6 Lipid Accumulation Assay	6
	3.7 Statistical Analysis	7
4.	RESULTS	8
	4.1 Sex differences and characterization of BMDM polarization	8
	4.2 BMDM polarization is affected by 17β-estradiol and testosterone supplementation	6
	4.3 Sex differences and the effects of sex hormone supplementation on BMDM inflammatory	
	response4	4
	4.4 Sex differences and the effects of sex hormone supplementation on BMDM migratory	
	response4	9
	4.5 Sex differences and the effects of 17β-estradiol on BMDM lipid accumulation	1
5.	DISCUSSION	5
	5.1 Characterizing BMDM polarization in male- and female-derived BMDMs5	5
	5.2 Effects of sex hormones on BMDM polarization 5	9
	5.3 Sex differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM pro-atherogenic functions 6	2
	5.3.1 Sex differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM inflammatory responses 6	2
	5.3.2 Sex Differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM migration	4
	5.3.3 Sex Differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM lipid accumulation 6	5
	5.3.4 Summary of sex differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM pro-	
	atherogenic functions	6
	5.4 Future Directions	8

5.4.1 Investigating the effects of E2 and TE on macrophage functions: apoptosis and	
efferocytosis	
5.4.2 Investigating the effects of progesterone on macrophage polarization and functions. 68	
5.4.3. Investigating the effects of E2 and TE on macrophage phenotypes and functions in	
vivo	
5.4.4 Identifying the specific mechanisms by which sex hormones act on macrophage	
polarization and functional pathways69	
6.0 CONCLUSION	
7.0 REFERENCES	
8.0 SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Key steps in atherogenesis. 4
Figure 2: Monocyte differentiation and macrophage polarization
Figure 3: Distribution of macrophage phenotypes in the atherosclerotic lesion
Figure 4: Biosynthesis and receptor targets of estrogen and testosterone11
Figure 5: Observations of sex-based differences in the lifespan and progression of
atherosclerosis in ApoE ^{-/-} : Ins2 ^{+/Akita} mice17
Figure 6: Experimental design for BMDM differentiation, polarization, experimentation, and
analysis
Figure 7: Gene expression of pro-inflammatory markers in male- and female-derived
BMDMs
Figure 8: Gene expression of anti-inflammatory markers in male- and female-derived
BMDMs
Figure 9: Sex differences in gene expression of BMDM polarization markers
Figure 10: Sex differences in gene expression of sex hormone receptors in BMDMs35
Figure 11: Gene expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory markers in male- and female-derived
BMDMs pre-treated with 100 nM 17β-estradiol (E2)
Figure 12: Gene expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory markers in male- and female-derived
BMDMs pre-treated with 100 nM testosterone (TE)
Figure 13: Gene expression of transcription factors in pro- or anti-inflammatory BMDMs
treated with 17β-estradiol (E2)42
Figure 14: Gene expression of transcription factors in pro- and anti-inflammatory BMDMs
treated with 100 nM testosterone (TE)

Figure 15: Protein concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines secreted by
unpolarized BMDMs derived from male and female mice45
Figure 16: Sex differences and the effects of 17β -estradiol (E2) and testosterone (TE) on IL- 1β
protein concentration and mRNA expression in BMDMs47
Figure 17: Effects of long-term 17β -estradiol (E2) exposure on IL-1 β expression in
BMDMs49
Figure 18: Sex differences and the effects of 100 nM 17β-estradiol (E2) on BMDM
migration
Figure 19: Sex differences and the effects of 100 nM 17β-estradiol (E2) and testosterone (TE)
on BMDM lipid accumulation53
Figure 20: Proposed roles of 17β-estradiol (E2) and testosterone (TE) on BMDM polarization
and pro-atherogenic functions
Supplementary Figure 1: Gene expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory markers in female-
derived BMDMs pre-treated with 100 nM 17β-estradiol (E2) or testosterone (TE)81
Supplementary Figure 2: Protein concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines
secreted by pro-inflammatory BMDMs derived from male and female mice83
Supplementary Figure 3: Protein concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines
secreted by anti-inflammatory BMDMs derived from male and female mice
Supplementary Figure 4: The effects of 100 nM testosterone (TE) on BMDM migration85

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Primer sequences for RT-qPCR analyses 24

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALBIA	Addressable Laser Bead Immunoassay
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
АроЕ-/	Apolipoprotein E Knockout
AR	Androgen Receptor
ARE	Androgen Response Element
Arg1	Arginase 1
BMDM	Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophage
CCL19	Chemokine Ligand 19
CD38	Cluster of Differentiation 38
CD206	Cluster of Differentiation 206
CS-FBS	Charcoal-Stripped Fetal Bovine Serum
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DH-T	Dihydrotestosterone
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
E1	Estrone
E2	17β-Estradiol
E3	Estriol
ER	Endoplasmic Reticulum
ΕR α	Estrogen Receptor Alpha
ER β	Estrogen Receptor Beta
ERK	Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase
Fizz1	Found In Inflammatory Zone 1
GPER1	G Protein Coupled Estrogen Receptor 1
GPER30	G Protein Coupled Receptor 30
HA-mac	Hemorrhage-Associated Macrophage
HSC	Hematopoietic Stem Cell
IFN γ	Interferon Gamma
IHD	Ischemic Heart Disease
IL-1	Interleukin-1
IL-1 β	Interleukin-1Beta
IL-4	Interleukin-4
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-10	Interleukin 10
IL-13	Interleukin-13
iNOS	Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase
IRF4	Interferon Regulatory Factor 4
IDDE	
IRF5	Interferon Regulatory Factor 5
IRF5	Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 Low-Density Lipoprotein
LDL LPS	Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 Low-Density Lipoprotein Lipopolysaccharide
LDL LPS MAPK	Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 Low-Density Lipoprotein Lipopolysaccharide Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
IRF5 LDL LPS MAPK M-CSF	Interferon Regulatory Factor 5 Low-Density Lipoprotein Lipopolysaccharide Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor

MI	Myocardial Infarction
MR	Mannose Receptor
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
NO	Nitric Oxide
ORO	Oil Red O
oxLDL	Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
RT-qPCR	Reverse Transcription Quantitative
	Polymerase Chain Reaction
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
SHBG	Sex Hormone Binding Globulin
SMC	Smooth Muscle Cell
STAT1	Signal Transducer and Activator of
	Transcription 1
STAT3	Signal Transducer and Activator of
	Transcription 3
STAT6	Signal Transducer and Activator of
	Transcription 6
TE	Testosterone
TGF- β	Transforming Growth Factor-Beta
Th-1	T-Helper Type 1
Th-2	T-Helper Type 2
THP-1	
TLR4	
TNF- α	Tumour Necrosis Factor Alpha
Ym1	Chitinase-3-Like Protein 3

DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

This study has characterized bone marrow-derived macrophage polarization over several time points and has identified sex differences in macrophage polarization and pro-atherogenic functions. It has also revealed that treatment with 17β -estradiol and testosterone enhances macrophage behaviours that could support a role in human atheroprotection.

All methods conducted in this study were completed by Sophie Enright. The bone marrow-derived macrophage differentiation protocol was developed by Dr. Sarvatit Patel and the macrophage polarization scheme was further adjusted by Sophie Enright. The experimental design of determining sex differences in BMDM polarization and pro-atherogenic functions was created by Dr. Geoff Werstuck and Sophie Enright. All sample collection, cell culturing and experimentation was carried out by Sophie Enright. Dr. Daniel Venegas Pino assisted in the processing of Transwell inserts and Roniya Sebastian assisted in the analysis of fluorescence microscopy images.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Cardiovascular Disease and Atherosclerosis

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the world's leading cause of death¹. In 2020, the WHO reported that 27% of deaths occurred as a result of complications of CVD¹. Atherosclerosis, a disease of progressive arterial inflammation at the vascular intima², is the underlying cause of most CVD³. Atherosclerosis is characterized by arterial hardening, narrowing, and a resultant reduction in blood flow. It primarily occurs in areas where blood flow is turbulent, such as areas with branches or inner curvatures⁴. Atherosclerotic CVD can be subclassified into two major diseases: ischemic heart disease (IHD) and cerebrovascular disease. IHD describes the buildup of plaque in, and the narrowing of, arteries that supply blood to the heart⁵. Reductions in blood flow to the heart result in insufficient oxygen and nutrient delivery to cardiomyocytes and resultant myocardial infarction^{4,5}. Cerebrovascular disease involves a buildup of plaque and narrowing of the arteries that supply blood to the brain, resulting in insufficient oxygen and nutrient delivery to the brain, cumulating in a stroke⁶.

1.1.1 Atherogenesis

Atherogenesis occurs through a complex lipid-driven mechanism involving an initial endothelial injury and a local inflammatory event, followed by lesion initiation and development, plaque formation, arterial narrowing and reduction of blood flow, and potential plaque rupture⁷ (**Figure 1**).

Insults to endothelial cells of the vascular intima, including physical stress, chemical irritants, and elevated circulating low-density lipoprotein (LDL)-cholesterol lead to endothelial dysfunction, injury, and the formation of an initial lesion⁷. Activation of resident cells, including

intimal endothelial cells and medial smooth muscle cells (SMCs) induces a local inflammatory response within the lesion⁸. High circulating levels of LDL cholesterol lead to the sequestration and accumulation of LDL in the arterial intima⁸, wherein subendothelial LDL particles are modified into pro-inflammatory molecules (modified LDL) through processes such as oxidation by reactive oxygen species⁹. Modified LDL particles exacerbate the immune response by promoting the expression of adhesion molecules by the endothelium¹⁰. Adhesion molecule presentation leads to the recruitment of circulating monocytes and lymphocytes to the activated endothelium^{8, 10}. Monocytes infiltrate the vessel wall, and micro-environmental stimuli induce monocyte differentiation into macrophages in the sub-endothelium^{11,12}. Lesional macrophages scavenge and uptake the accumulating modified LDL and cellular debris, therein leading to foam cell formation^{13,14}. In early atherosclerosis, a fatty streak forms in the arterial wall and consists of these foam cells. Macrophage-derived foam cells secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and growth factors, such as interferon gamma (IFN_γ), interleukin-1 (IL-1), and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), that lead to continued inflammation^{15,16}. In later stages of atherosclerosis, foam cells induce SMC migration from the tunica media to the tunica intima. Migrated SMCs contribute to the production of extracellular matrix proteins that cause fibrosis of the developing plaque. As foam cells continue to uptake modified LDL particles, intracellular accumulation of these particles leads to foam cell apoptosis¹⁶.

A hallmark of atherosclerosis progression is foam cell apoptosis within the lesion¹⁷. In early atherosclerotic lesions, macrophages efficiently efferocytose apoptotic cells and prevent further lesion progression. However, in advanced atherosclerotic lesions, macrophage efferocytotic capacity becomes impaired, and a buildup of cellular debris in the lipid core of the lesion occurs¹⁸. This accumulation of cellular debris in the lesion forms the necrotic core.

Necrotic core formation is a key indicator of plaque instability and potential plaque rupture¹⁸. Further, foam cells release matrix-degrading enzymes, such as collagenases and matrix metalloproteases, that reduce fibrotic cap stability and increase rupture susceptibility¹⁵. Lesion rupture results in atherothrombosis, which frequently causes vessel occlusion and can result in cardiovascular complications including IHD or stroke.



Figure 1: Key steps in atherogenesis. 1. Elevated concentrations of circulating LDLcholesterolresults in initial endothelial injury, activation, and local inflammatory responses. 2a. Circulating LDL is sequestered and accumulates in the arterial intima. **2b.** LDL particles are modified into oxidized pro-inflammatory particles (modified LDL) in the subendothelium. 3. Modified LDL particles promote the expression of adhesion molecules by the activated endothelium. Circulating monocytes are attracted to and infiltrate the vessel wall. 4. Microenvironmental stimuli in the subendothelium induce monocyte differentiation into macrophages, 5. Macrophages take up accumulating modified LDL particles leading to foam cell formation. Foam cells form the fatty streak of early lesions and produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and growth factors that amplify inflammatory events in the lesion. 6. Foam cells induce SMC migration from the tunica media into the tunica intima. SMCs produce collagen that contributes to fibrosis of the developing plaque. **7a.** Excess uptake of modified LDL particles by impaired efferocytosis and eventual foam cell apoptosis. 7b. foam cells leads to Accumulation of cholesterol deposits furthers plaque formation. SMCs continue to produce ECM proteins that stabilize the plaque with a fibrotic cap. 8. Accumulation of necrotic debris forms a necrotic core. 9. (Not shown) Loss of plaque stability results in plaque rupture and thrombus. (Figure adapted from "Antibody-Based Therapeutics for Atherosclerosis and Cardiovascular Diseases", 2021¹⁹).

1.2 Monocyte Differentiation and Macrophage Polarization

Blood cells are produced from hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in a process known as

hematopoiesis²⁰. Briefly, in the bone marrow, HSCs differentiate into common myeloid

progenitor cells, which further differentiate into myoblasts²¹. Myoblasts are precursors of

basophils, neutrophils, eosinophils, and monocytes. Emerging evidence suggests an important role for neutrophils in atherosclerosis, including involvement in initial endothelial activation, crosstalk with and recruitment of monocytes, and regulating inflammatory responses of macrophages²². Despite this interplay between neutrophils and monocytes, the primary focus of this project is on monocytes alone. Monocytes are released from the bone marrow and circulate in the blood²¹. Monocytes are attracted to regions of tissue damage where they further differentiate into macrophages.

Macrophages are a central part of the innate immune system. They are highly plastic and susceptible to influence by microenvironmental stimuli^{22,23}, for example, within an atherosclerotic lesion. While many macrophage phenotypes have been identified, two broad classifications exist: pro-inflammatory macrophages (also known as M1 macrophages) and anti-inflammatory macrophages (also known as M2 macrophages)¹⁷ (**Figure 2**).

1.2.1 Pro-Inflammatory Macrophages

Macrophages can be polarized into pro-inflammatory macrophages by exposure to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) alone or in conjunction with T-helper type 1 (Th-1) cytokines, IFN γ or TNF- $\alpha^{17,24}$ (**Figure 2**). The use of LPS as an inducer of pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization is often considered a synthetic mechanism. However, increasing evidence of neutrophil involvement in atherogenesis may explain infection-induced endothelial injury in human atherogenesis, which could justify the use of LPS for induction of pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization *in vitro*²². Pro-inflammatory macrophages may also be produced through exposure to and uptake of cholesterol crystals or oxidized LDL²⁵. In the atherosclerotic lesion, pro-inflammatory macrophages maintain inflammatory responses through the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β^{26} . Pro-inflammatory

macrophages are also characterized by their production of nitric oxide (NO) through activation of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and reactive oxygen intermediates^{12,27,28}. While short-term activation of pro-inflammatory macrophages is beneficial, long-term activity of these macrophages may disrupt tissue repair and may contribute to further tissue damage²⁹.



Figure 2: Monocyte differentiation and macrophage polarization. In areas of tissue damage, monocytes are recruited and differentiate into macrophages. M0 macrophages may be identified experimentally through their expression of the surface marker cluster of differentiation molecule 11B (CD11b), and the murine-specific EDF-like module-containing mucin-like hormone receptor-like 1 (F4/80). M0 macrophages may polarize into pro-inflammatory macrophages after exposure to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and interferon-γ (IFNγ). Pro-inflammatory macrophages may be identified through the upregulated expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) or CD38. Pro-inflammatory macrophages produce high levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α), and interleukin-1β (IL-1β) in order to maintain of inflammatory responses. Pro-inflammatory macrophages also uptake oxidized LDL particles to form foam cells. M0 macrophages polarize to anti-inflammatory macrophages following exposure to IL-4. Anti-inflammatory macrophages may be identified through their expression of found in inflammatory zone 1 (Fizz1), arginase 1 (Arg1), chitinase-3-like protein 3 (Ym1). They also produce high levels of and IL-10. Primary functions of anti-inflammatory macrophages include efferocytosis and debris scavenging, tissue repair, and angiogenesis. (*Created with BioRender*).

1.2.2 Anti-Inflammatory Macrophages

Anti-inflammatory macrophages are produced following exposure of macrophages to T-

helper type 2 (Th-2) cytokines including IL-4 and IL-13³⁰ (Figure 2). Their primary functions

include cholesterol efflux and scavenging of debris³¹, tissue repair¹⁷, and angiogenesis³². Antiinflammatory macrophages are characterized by their production of anti-inflammatory cytokines including IL-10 and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β)^{12,30}. Principal markers of antiinflammatory macrophages include found in inflammatory zone 1 (Fizz1), arginase 1 (Arg1), chitinase-3-like protein 3 (Ym1), and mannose receptor (MR, CD206)¹⁷. These macrophages are believed to counteract the actions of pro-inflammatory macrophages spatially and temporally²⁹. Anti-inflammatory macrophages may also be referred to as M2 macrophages, and multiple distinct subtypes of M2 macrophages have been defined¹⁷.

Finally, additional macrophage phenotypes include M4, MOX, hemorrhage-associated macrophage (HA-mac), and hemoglobin-associated macrophage (Mhem)¹⁷. While the function and significance of these macrophage phenotypes are actively being investigated elsewhere, they are currently poorly understood. Regardless, the precise classification of macrophages is arbitrary, as all phenotypes exist on a spectrum of pro-inflammatory to anti-inflammatory function.

1.2.3 Significance of Phenotypic Distribution in Atherosclerotic Lesions

While disease outcome and plaque stability were once predicted using the absolute number of macrophages present, it is now more evident that the relative phenotypic abundance is a better predictor of plaque stability²⁹.

A variety of macrophage phenotypes can exist throughout human atherosclerotic lesions (**Figure 3**). Generally, pro-inflammatory macrophages are the dominant phenotype in the lipid core and the plaque shoulder, which is rupture-prone^{33,34}. Anti-inflammatory macrophages are more abundant in the adventitia and neo-vascular areas. Interestingly, the distribution of macrophage phenotype differs with plaque severity ³⁴. An increasing number of clinical studies

demonstrate that pro-inflammatory macrophages are more prevalent in symptomatic patients and severe lesions, whereas anti-inflammatory macrophages are found in greater abundance in asymptomatic patients or early lesions^{35,36}. This supports the suggestion that anti-inflammatory macrophages possess anti-atherogenic properties, and conversely, pro-inflammatory macrophages are pro-atherogenic²⁹.



Figure 3: Distribution of macrophage phenotypes in the atherosclerotic lesion. Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory macrophages localize to distinct areas of the atherosclerotic lesion that correspond to their functions in atherogenesis. Pro-inflammatory macrophages are most abundant in the lipid core and the plaque shoulder of moderate to severe atherosclerotic plaques. They transform into foam cells following uptake of modified LDL. Pro-inflammatory macrophages may also be found in other areas of the vessel, including the adventitia. Antiinflammatory macrophages are present in all stages of plaque development, but are most abundant in early, stable plaques, or in models of plaque regression. These macrophages are localized primarily to the adventitia and areas of neovascularization. (*Created with BioRender*).

Furthermore, these observations extend to experimental models of atherosclerosis. In apolipoprotein E knockout (ApoE^{-/-}) mice, anti-inflammatory macrophages were abundant in early atherosclerotic lesions, however, in advanced and unstable plaques, pro-inflammatory macrophages predominated^{37,38}. Interestingly, the abundance of pro-inflammatory macrophages was reduced in plaque regression, while the abundance of anti-inflammatory macrophages increased. Signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 3/6 upregulation in ApoE^{-/-} mice, leading to anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization, resulted in plaque stabilization and regression³⁹. Taken together, evidence suggests a role for macrophage polarization in predicting plaque severity and disease outcome. Therefore, targeting macrophage polarization may provide a novel therapeutic strategy to improve plaque stability and slow atherogenesis.

1.2.4 Macrophage Functions in Atherosclerotic Plaque Development

Several macrophage functions, including inflammatory response, migration, and lipid accumulation, affect the production and resolution of atherosclerotic plaques. As mentioned, atherosclerosis is a condition characterized by inflammation in the arterial wall. In particular, the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β has been identified as both a marker and mediator of inflammation in atherosclerosis, imposing several actions upon many cell types in a plaque⁴⁰. Notably, IL-1 β inhibition resulted in a significant reduction of CVD events in humans⁴¹. Therefore, IL-1 β is a marker often used to evaluate severity of inflammation in atherosclerotic lesions and can be used as an indicator of inflammatory properties in macrophages⁴⁰.

Macrophage migration may be considered both atherogenic and atheroprotective. Increased migratory function in pro-inflammatory macrophages leads to increased cholesterol uptake, foam cell formation, and plaque instability⁴². Alternatively, migration by antiinflammatory macrophages promotes cholesterol efflux, plaque stability, and plaque resolution⁴². Therefore, it is important to analyze macrophage migration by phenotype. Similarly, lipid accumulation by macrophages can be beneficial or harmful in atherosclerosis. Cholesterol uptake by pro-inflammatory macrophages promotes plaque development and foam cell apoptosis whereas uptake by anti-inflammatory macrophages promotes cholesterol efflux and plaque

resolution⁴². Overall, macrophage functions such inflammatory response, migration, and lipid accumulation may be targets for mediating atherogenesis.

1.3 Sex Differences in Atherosclerosis and their Clinical Significance

Differences in CVD onset, presentation, and severity exist between men and women⁴³. Premenopausal women have a much lower prevalence of obstructive IHD and plaque rupture than similarly aged men⁴⁴. Several clinical studies have demonstrated that women with IHD are older and present with more CVD risk factors than men^{43–45}. Furthermore, while men had an incidence and related mortality of IHD that is 2-fold greater than women, the disparity narrowed with age⁴⁶. Regardless, CVD risk increases with age in both men and women⁴⁷, which coincides with the reduction, or loss, of reproductive hormone production⁴⁸. Observed differences in CVD presentation, risk, and severity with age and between sexes may be attributable, at least in part, to sex hormones⁴⁹, including estrogen, progesterone, and testosterone.

1.3.1 Estrogen

Estrogens, a group of cholesterol-derived gonadocorticoids, are the primary female sex hormones⁵⁰ (**Figure 4**). However, they are not exclusively female sex hormones and are present in males, generally in lower concentrations. Three forms of estrogens exist: 17β -estradiol (E2), estrone (E1), and estriol (E3). E2 is produced in the ovaries and is the most abundant circulating estrogen⁵⁰. Due to its high affinity for estrogen receptors compared with other estrogens, E2 is also the most potent estrogen⁴⁹. Post-menopausal E2 levels drop drastically due to the cessation of its production by the ovaries⁵¹. In men, E2 may also be produced through the conversion of testosterone by the enzyme aromatase, present in the bone, brain, adipose tissue, and gonad⁵². E1 is an estradiol metabolite of lower potency, produced in adipose tissue through conversion from androstenedione⁴⁹. Because androstenedione production is maintained by the adrenal cortex postmenopause, its circulating levels are maintained relative to E2. E3 is a peripheral estradiol metabolite that is produced in abundance by the placenta during pregnancy⁴⁹. However, its production is comparably low in non-pregnant individuals.



Figure 4: Biosynthesis and receptor targets of estrogen and testosterone. Cholesterol is the common precursor of all sex hormones. Cholesterol is first converted into pregnenolone before enzymatic conversion to progesterone. Progesterone is converted into testosterone through a series of enzymatic reactions involving androstenedione as an intermediate. Testosterone may also be produced from pregnenolone through a separate enzymatic pathway involving androstenediol as an intermediate. Testosterone binds the androgen receptor (AR) and induces receptor dimerization, nuclear translocation, and gene transcription. Intracellularly, testosterone can also be converted to its potent metabolite, dihydrotestosterone (D-HT), by 5α -reductase, which also acts through AR. Alternatively, testosterone can be converted to 17β -estradiol by the enzyme, aromatase. However, 17β -estradiol is generated primarily from estrone. 17β -estradiol acts through three receptors: nuclear receptors, estrogen receptor alpha (ER α) and beta (ER β), and G protein-coupled estrogen receptor (GPER). Binding to ER α or ER β in the cytosol induces receptor dimerization, nuclear translocation, and gene transcription. Interaction with GPER at the cell surface induces an intracellular signaling cascade. (*Created with BioRender*).

Estrogens can freely diffuse into the bloodstream⁴⁹. However, circulating estrogens largely bind to sex hormone binding globulins (SHBGs), with a small (2%) proportion remaining free and unbound. Known estrogen-specific receptors include estrogen receptor alpha (ER α) and beta (ER β)⁴⁹, as well as the more recently described G protein-coupled estrogen receptor (GPER)⁵³. ER α and ER β are best known as classical steroidal receptors that exist unbound in the cell cytosol. Unbound estrogens may diffuse through the plasma membranes of cells in target tissues⁵³. Within the cell, estrogens bind intracellular estrogen receptor to cause receptor dimerization and nuclear translocation. In the nucleus, ligand-receptor complexes associate with estrogen response elements in DNA and other transcription factors in order to initiate gene transcription and alter physiologic activity⁵³. Both receptors are widely expressed and in a variety of cell types. Recent advances suggest that in addition to their known genomic effects, ERs may also exhibit non-genomic effects through association with proteins at the cell membrane resulting in the initiation of intracellular signalling cascades⁵³. However, these findings remain subject to controversy.

GPER is a ubiquitously expressed G protein-coupled receptor⁵⁴ that, when bound by estrogens, initiates intracellular signaling cascades such as the MAPK/ERK pathway⁵⁵. Controversy exists over GPER localization and signaling cascades. It has been suggested that GPER could be present at the intracellular membrane⁵⁶ and within the nucleus⁵⁷.

Cardiovascular protection provided by endogenous estrogens is widely accepted. Observed cardiovascular protection in premenopausal women and subsequent increased CVD risk with age coincides with the loss of reproductive hormone production that occurs during menopause^{48,58}. In both human and animal studies, estrogens have demonstrated the ability to slow the development of atherosclerosis^{58,59}. Furthermore, the post-menopausal loss of estrogens

combined with increases in sex-specific risk factors contribute to increases in CVD incidence in women following menopause^{60,61}. However, in men with prostate cancer, E2 treatment is associated with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality⁶². Also, in middle-aged male subjects without cardiovascular disease, circulating E2 levels were associated with increases in carotid artery intima-media thickness⁶³. Overall, while heavily studied, the actions of E2 in men and women are complex and differential, and the role(s) of E2 in CVD remain debated and poorly understood.

1.3.2 Testosterone

Testosterone (TE) is the primary sex hormone in the male body but is not exclusively a male sex hormone (**Figure 4**). As a steroid hormone, it is produced from a cholesterol precursor, and its production occurs in the greatest quantities in the Leydig cells of the testes, and in smaller proportions in the ovaries of women and the adrenal cortex of both men and women⁶⁴. TE may be metabolized by 5α -reductase into dihydrotestosterone (D-HT), a more potent TE metabolite with a higher binding capacity to target receptors. Conversely, TE may also be converted to E2 by aromatase⁶⁴. In circulation, approximately 60% of TE is bound by SHBG, and to a lesser extent albumin⁶⁴. Only about 1-2% of TE remains unbound and free in circulation.

TE exerts its effects primarily by binding the androgen receptor (AR), a ligand-dependent nuclear receptor that exists in most organs and cell types⁶⁴. Similar to ERs, a conformational change occurs upon ligand binding to the AR, leading to nuclear translocation, association with androgen response promotor elements (AREs), and subsequent modulation of gene transcription. TE may also exhibit non-DNA binding-dependent mechanisms which may activate second messenger signaling cascades involving MAPK, Akt, ERK. However, this mechanism is not well described⁶⁴.

Associations between TE and CVD risk are unclear. The involvement of TE in CVD risk protection has been suggested, however, these data are often conflicting⁶⁴. An inverse relationship between endogenous circulating TE levels and cardiovascular mortality in men has been demonstrated in several prospective cohort studies^{65,66}. In contrast, other clinical studies have not observed statistically significant associations between these variables⁶⁴. Furthermore, in a cohort study of hormone associations in postmenopausal women, age-adjusted coronary heart disease risks were significantly higher in women with low endogenous bioavailable TE⁶⁷. Overall, evidence suggesting a role for TE in CVD risk is heavily debated, and possible underlying mechanisms by which protection may be conferred are unclear.

Overall, sex hormones, including E2 and TE, may differentially impact CVD risk for both men and women. Further clinical (and pre-clinical) research is required to draw concrete conclusions on this matter.

1.3.3 Preclinical Observations of Sex Differences in Atherosclerosis

Preclinical studies have explored the implications of sex hormones, especially E2 and to a lesser extent TE, on CVD risk. E2 improves vascular function and protects against atherosclerosis in mice⁶⁸. The effects of E2 on the endothelium are relatively well established; in instances of vascular injury, E2 promoted re-endothelialization⁶⁹, inhibited smooth muscle cell proliferation⁷⁰, and attenuated plaque progression⁷¹. E2 also attenuated endothelial activation following endothelial injury by inhibiting or interfering with mechanisms that attract circulating inflammatory molecules to the endothelium⁷². Furthermore, in the mesenteric arteries of mice, E2 deprivation resulted in systemic inflammatory effect was observed following acute E2 treatment in RAW 264.7 macrophages and primary cultures of microglia from mice *in*

*vitro*⁷⁴. However, a contrasting effect was observed in macrophages isolated from chronically E2-treated mice. Chronic E2 supplementation of ovariectomized mice resulted in an increase in pro-inflammatory mediator production by peritoneal macrophages⁷⁵. This discrepancy highlights potential differences between effects of short-term and long-term E2 supplementation, as well as a discordance in effects produced in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models⁷⁶. Overall, while the anti-atherogenic effects of E2 supplementation have been described, some discrepancies in the literature suggest that the role of E2 in atheroprotection may be more complex than originally believed.

Experimental studies have also suggested a protective role of TE and AR against cardiovascular disease. TE deficiency through castration increased atherogenesis, an effect which TE supplementation abolished⁷⁷. Further, in male mice, AR deficiency resulted in an increased atherosclerosis burden⁷⁷. While TE has been demonstrated to act through AR, it may also exert its atheroprotective effects after its conversion to E2 by aromatase. In male mice, aromatase inhibition blocked TE's anti-atherogenic effects⁷⁸. This effect might be mediated through modulation of vascular tone because aromatase knockout in mice also resulted in irregular vascular relaxation⁷⁹. Overall, while a relatively new field of study, experimental research suggests a protective role of TE in atherosclerosis.

The Werstuck lab recently developed and characterized a new murine model of hyperglycemia-induced accelerated atherosclerosis: the ApoE^{-/-}:Ins2^{+/Akita} mouse⁸⁰. This model is produced through a point mutation in one allele of the insulin 2 gene, which prevents proinsulin processing. Accumulation of proinsulin in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and Golgi results in ER stress, eventual β -cell dysfunction, and death. Of note, differences were observed in survival outcomes between male and female ApoE^{-/-}:Ins2^{+/Akita} mice fed a Western diet⁸¹. Male ApoE^{-/-}

:Ins2^{+/Akita} mice fed a Western diet did not survive past 25 weeks after suffering from cardiovascular events such as myocardial infarction (**Figure 5 A**). However, female ApoE^{-/-} :Ins2^{+/Akita} mice, regardless of diet, did not experience these events and lived a normal lifespan. This finding drew parallels with observed differences in disease progression in men and premenopausal women. Furthermore, the results of castration and ovariectomy in this model differed⁸⁰. In male mice, the effects of castration seemed to depend on glycemic status. Castration accelerated atherosclerosis in normoglycemic ApoE^{-/-} mice, but it conversely slowed lesion development in ApoE^{-/-}:Ins2^{+/Akita} (hyperglycemic) mice (**Figure 5 B**). In female mice, ovariectomized hyperglycemic females demonstrated the most severe atherosclerotic lesions compared with sham and normoglycemic controls⁸⁰ (**Figure 5 C**). Interestingly, our laboratory demonstrated that E2 supplementation in ovariectomized ApoE^{-/-}:Ins2^{+/Akita} females reduced plaque severity and restored cardiovascular protection⁸² (**Figure 5 D, E**). These observations further suggest differential effects of sex hormones on atherogenesis that extend beyond glucose control.



Figure 5: Observations of sex-based differences in the lifespan and progression of atherosclerosis in ApoE^{-/-}: Ins2^{+/Akita} mice. A. Survival curves of male and female ApoE^{-/-} and ApoE^{-/-}: Ins2^{+/Akita} mice fed a regular chow diet or a western diet from 5 to 25 weeks of age or until endpoint was observed⁸¹. Necrotic cores in atherosclerotic lesions at the aortic sinus were quantified in 25-week-old **B.** female ovariectomized (Ovx) or sham-operated ApoE^{-/-} and ApoE^{-/-} ins2^{+/Akita} mice, and **C.** male castrated (Cx) or sham-operated ApoE^{-/-} and ApoE^{-/-}: Ins2^{+/Akita} mice represent cross-sections of the aortic sinus. Female ApoE^{-/-} and ApoE^{-/-}: Ins2^{+/Akita} mice were ovariectomized and supplemented with 17β-estradiol, and **D.** total plaque volume and **E.** necrotic core area at the aortic sinus were quantified⁸².

Owing to increasing evidence for sex hormone involvement in atherosclerosis and accumulating observations that connect macrophage phenotype distribution to atherosclerosis severity, we suggest that sex hormones directly influence macrophage polarization and proatherogenic functions. In preclinical *in vitro* studies of macrophage polarization in murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) and THP-1 macrophages, E2 promoted polarization to the anti-inflammatory phenotype and dampened polarization to the pro-inflammatory phenotype^{83–86}. Likewise, a smaller body of evidence supports a role for TE in the promotion of the anti-inflammatory phenotype^{87,88}. However, differences in experimental protocols, including variability in the type and dosage of polarization agents and sex hormone treatments, as well as the number of sample collection times employed, impede our ability to compare observations from separate studies. Furthermore, very few studies have considered the effects of both E2 and TE on macrophage polarization and functions in the same experimental protocol. Most notably, to our knowledge, no study has connected these observations to the pro-atherogenic functions of macrophages.

2. RESEARCH HYPOTHESIS

We believe sex hormones, including E2 and TE, regulate the progression of atherosclerosis through interactions with macrophages. **We hypothesize that sex hormones directly alter BMDM polarization and pro-atherogenic function.** This project will be the first to directly compare the role(s) of both E2 and TE on BMDM polarization and pro-atherogenic functions in one complete study using one standardized protocol. It will also acknowledge biological sex as an independent factor to be considered in this context. The goal of this research is to further justify and inform efforts to develop new, and more effective, sex-specific strategies to treat patients with CVD.

2.1 Research Objectives

The objectives of this project are:

1) To characterize macrophage polarization *in vitro* in murine male- and femalederived BMDMs.

A comprehensive profile of macrophage polarization that includes expression of phenotypic markers and inflammatory cytokines at more than two time points has not been established in BMDMS. Doing so will provide a reliable baseline useful in further analyses throughout this project and for studies performed elsewhere. This objective also includes an analysis of sex differences in macrophage marker and hormone receptor expression levels.

2) To establish the effects of sex hormone supplementation on BMDM polarization.

The effects of E2 and TE on macrophage polarization have not been investigated together in the context of atherosclerosis. Results from this study will help explain sex

differences in atherogenesis that may reflect observations made in humans or experimental models of atherosclerosis.

3) To identify sex differences and the effects of sex hormone supplementation on proatherogenic functions of BMDMs.

Our laboratory has previously employed *in vitro* assay systems to identify changes in pro-atherogenic functions of BMDMs, including inflammatory responses, migration, and lipid accumulation⁸⁹. Following this characterization system, identifying changes to pro-atherogenic macrophage function due to sex hormone supplementation will provide greater insights into the roles that sex hormones play in atherogenesis.
3. METHODS

3.1 Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophage Isolation and Polarization

C57BL/6 mice were obtained from Jackson Labs. Mice were provided with unlimited food and water, and were housed in a 12-hour light/dark cycle. All use of mice was pre-approved by the McMaster University Animal Research Ethics Board and followed guidelines regulated by the Canadian Council of Animal Care.

The following bone marrow isolation protocol was carried out as previously described⁸⁹. At ages 8-10 weeks, tibias and femurs were harvested. Bone marrow was collected and passed through a 70 µM nylon filter. Isolated bone marrow was resuspended in phenol red-free Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) containing 20% charcoal-stripped fetal bovine serum (CS-FBS), 100 IU/mL penicillin, 100 µg/mL streptomycin, and 1X MEM non-essential amino acids (DMEM plating medium) (Figure 6). Cells were seeded onto 10 cm non-treated Petri dishes at a seeding density of 5 x 10^6 cells/plate in 10 mL media. To initiate differentiation to M0 macrophages, 20 ng/mL of recombinant macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) was applied to each dish⁸⁹. Following 3 days of incubation, 5 mL fresh medium and 20 ng/mL M-CSF were added to each plate. On day 6, cells were washed twice with warm, sterile PBS without calcium or magnesium. Cells were lifted using Accutase[®], centrifuged at 200 x g for 5 minutes, and replated in 12-well tissue culture dishes at a density of 4 x 10⁵ cells/well in 1 mL DMEM plating medium. After 24 hours rest, subsets of cells were treated with 100 ng/mL LPS and 20 ng/mL IFNy to polarize to the pro-inflammatory phenotype^{89,90}, 10 ng/mL IL-4 to polarize to the anti-inflammatory phenotype^{39,89} or left unstimulated in fresh DMEM plating medium with 1X PBS. Sample collection occurred after 6, 24, and 48 hours of incubation.

21



Figure 6: Experimental design for BMDM differentiation, polarization, experimentation, and analysis. Bone marrow monocytes were isolated from male and female C57BL/6 mice at 8 to 10 weeks of age. Cells were treated with macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) to induce differentiation to M0 macrophages. On day three, cells were supplemented with additional media and MCSF. 1) On day 6, cells were re-plated and cultured for two hours prior to treatment with testosterone, 17β-estradiol, or vehicle overnight. On day 7, cells were treated with PBS vehicle control, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and interferon-gamma (IFN γ) to induce polarization to the pro-inflammatory phenotype, or interleukin-4 (IL-4) to induce polarization to the anti-inflammatory phenotype. Cells and culture media were collected 6, 24, or 48 hours following treatment. Cytokines and chemokines in cell culture media were analyzed using an addressable laser bead immunoassay (ALBIA) assay. Gene expression of macrophage markers was quantified by RT-qPCR. 2) On day 7, cells were supplemented with hormone or vehicle treatments and polarized using the described agents for 24 hours. Cells were collected and functional assays, including an ALBIA, a Transwell assay and lipid accumulation assay, were performed. (*Created with BioRender*).

3.2 Hormone Pre-Treatment

Bone marrow-derived monocytes were differentiated into macrophages using M-CSF as

described. Two hours following cell replating onto 12-well culture dishes, cells were

supplemented with 100 nM E2⁸³, TE^{91,92} or PBS as vehicle control, and incubated for 24 hours.

Cells were polarized into their respective phenotypes using the polarization protocol as

described, with or without the presence of hormone treatments depending on the assay

performed. Concentrations of hormone pre-treatments were selected primarily by reviewing

existing studies that applied hormone treatments to macrophages *in vitro*. Due to a wide range of E2 treatment concentrations employed in the literature, a dose-response experiment was carried out using E2 at concentrations of 100 nM, 200 nM, and 400 nM, and macrophage marker gene expression as the measured response. Changes in macrophage marker gene expression appeared to plateau following 100 nM E2 (data not shown) thus this treatment concentration was selected.

3.3 Analysis of Gene Expression

Bone marrow-derived macrophages were differentiated, pre-treated with E2 or TE, and polarized in 12-well tissue culture dishes at 4×10^5 cells/well in 1 mL DMEM plating medium. Following polarization, TRIzol[®] Reagent was applied to adhered macrophages and total RNA was collected using the TRIzol® Reagent manufacturer's protocol. Isolated RNA was resuspended in RNase-free water and quantified using a Nanodrop. The purity and quantity of RNA were determined using A260/A280 and A260/A230 ratios produced by the Nanodrop. cDNA was produced from 1 µg of total RNA that was reverse transcribed using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit⁸⁹. Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) reaction mixture was created using 12.5 µL SensiFAST SYBR No-ROX Kit, 1.25 µL of forward and reverse primers (500 nM), 8 µL RNase-free water, and 2 µL of resultant cDNA. qPCR was performed and relative fold change $(2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct})$ for each target gene was calculated by normalizing data to the reference gene, β -actin. Common markers of pro-inflammatory macrophages include iNOS, TNF- α , IL-1 β , and CD38^{83,84,93,94} and anti-inflammatory macrophages have been characterized by the expression of Fizz1, Arg1, Ym1 and CD206^{83,84,93,94}. To maintain consistency with the literature, these markers were employed in our study to characterize pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory macrophage phenotypes. Primers used for this reaction were specific for murine iNOS, TNF-α, IL-1β, CD38, Fizz1, Arg1, Ym1

23

and CD206 (Table 1). Sex hormone receptor expression was quantified using primers specific

for ER α , ER β , GPER1, and AR (**Table 1**).

Table 1. Primer sequences for RT-qPCR analyses.

qPCR Primers		
Gene	Forward Primer $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Reverse Primer $(5' \rightarrow 3')$
β-Actin	GGC ACC ACA CCT TCT ACA ATG	GGG GTG TTG AAG GTC TCA AAC
iNOS	CAG CTG GGC TGT ACA AAC CTT	CAT TGG AAG TGA AGC GGT TCG
TNF-α	ACC ACA GTC CAT GCC ATC AC	CAC CAC CCT GTT GCT GTA GCC
Fizz1	TCC AGC TGA TGG TCC CAG TGA ATA	ACA AGC ACA CCC AGT AGC AGT CAT
Arg1	ACC TGG CCT TTG TTG ATC TCC CTA	AGA GAT GCT TCC AAC TGC CAG ACT
IL-1β	CTG CTT CCA AAC CTT TGA CC	AGC TTC TCC AGA GCC ACA AT
CD38	TTG CAA GGG TTC TTG GAA AC	CGC TGC CTC ATC TAC ACT CA
Ym1	AGA AGG GAG TTT CAA ACC	GTC TTG CTC ATG TGT AGT GA
CD206	CAG GTG TGG GCT CAG GTA GT	TGT GGT GAG CTG AAA GGT GA
AR	TTG CAA GAG AGC TGC ATC AGT T	ACT GTG TGT GGA AAT AGA TGG GC
ERα	ACC ATT GAC AAG AAC CGG AG	CCT GAA GCA CCC ATT TCA TT
ERβ	TGT GTG TGA AGG CCA TGA TT	TCT TCG AAA TCA CCC AGA CC
GPER1	TCA TTT CTG CCA TGC ACC CA	GTG GAC AGG GTG TCT GAT GT
IRF4	GAA CGA GGA GAA GAG CGT CTT C	GTA GGA GGA TCT GGC TTG TCG A
IRF5	CCT ACA GAA CCA CTC TTG CCT G	CCT TGT GGG TTG CTG ATG GTG A
STAT1	CTG AAT ATT TCC CTC CTG GG	TCC CGT ACA GAT GTC CAT GAT
STAT6	TGA GGT GGG GAC CAG CCG G	GTG ACC AGG ACA CAC AGC GG

3.4 Cytokine/Chemokine Detection

To assess pro-inflammatory responses of BMDMs, the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines was analyzed using an addressable laser bead immunoassay (ALBIA), also referred to as a multiplexing LASER bead assay as previously described⁸⁹. Briefly, following BMDM polarization and hormone pre-treatment, cell culture media was collected, centrifuged at 3000 x g for 5 minutes, and the pellet was discarded. The concentration of cytokines and chemokines in supernatant was detected using an ALBIA assay ([Mouse Cytokine Array / Chemokine Array 31- Plex (MD31), Eve Technologies, Calgary, AB]).

3.5 Macrophage Migration Assay

Following differentiation with M-CSF, BMDMs were seeded into 12-well non-treated tissue culture dishes and were treated with 100 nM E2, TE, or PBS vehicle control for 24 hours. Cells were then polarized using LPS and IFN γ or IL-4 in conjunction with 100 nM E2, TE, or PBS treatment.

The following cell migration protocol was carried out as previously described⁸⁹. After 24-hour incubation, cells were re-suspended in serum-free DMEM plating medium and incubated for 1 hour. Transwell inserts (3 µm pore size, 6.5 mm diameter) were coated with rat tail collagen I (4 mg/mL) for 1 hour. Cells were detached using Accutase® and seeded into the upper chamber of the Transwell insert at a density of 0.4×10^5 cells/200 µL/insert in serum-free DMEM plating medium and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C. Chemokine ligand 19 (0.5 µg/mL, CCL19) or DMEM only were dispensed into the lower chambers of the Transwell support system. Following incubation, loaded Transwell inserts were placed into the lower chambers and incubated at 37°C. After 4 hours, cells were rinsed with 1x PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 15 minutes. Cells were rinsed with 1x PBS and stained with 4',6diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, 1:5000) for 5 minutes. Following 1x PBS rinse, membranes were washed twice with 1x PBS. Non-migrated cells located on the upper surface of the membrane were carefully scraped off using a cotton swab. Migrated cells on the lower surface of the membrane were imaged and quantified using fluorescent microscope (Olympus BX41 microscope connected to a DP71 Olympus camera, with 10x objective).

For quantification, 4 images were taken of each insert representing one biological replicate, and DAPI-stained nuclei were counted using ImageJ 1.52q software. The total number of cells migrated per replicate was determined by combining the cell count from each image in a

biological replicate (ie. 4 images combined). Passive migration was accounted for by subtracting the number of cells that migrated in CCL19-free control wells from each biological replicate of the corresponding macrophage phenotype. Data were normalized to either male-derived controls or vehicle-treated controls, depending on the analysis. Data presented are the mean cell migration of three to four biological replicates represented as a percentage of the control.

3.6 Lipid Accumulation Assay

In conjunction with polarization treatment, cells seeded into 12-well non-treated tissue culture dishes were supplemented with 100 nM E2, TE, or PBS vehicle control. The following lipid accumulation assay was conducted as previously described⁸⁹. Briefly, after a 24-hour incubation, cells were re-suspended in serum-free DMEM plating medium and incubated for 4 hours. Cells were detached using Accutase[®] and seeded at a density of 0.8 x 10^5 cells/ 200 µL/ well into 8-well chamber slides (ThermoFisher Scientific) in normal DMEM plating medium containing FBS. Following 24-hour incubation at 37°C, cells were washed with 1x PBS and fixed with 4% PFA for 15 minutes and washed again with 1x PBS. To prepare Oil Red O (ORO) stock solution, 0.25 g ORO powder (Sigma) was dissolved in 50 mL 100% isopropanol in a 70°C water bath for 10 minutes. While warm, stock solution was filtered. Working ORO solution was prepared by creating a 3:2 mixture of ORO stock and ddH2O. Fixed and rinsed cells were permeabilized with 0.5% Triton X-100 for 5 minutes and stained with ORO working solution for 15-20 minutes. Cells were washed twice with 60% isopropanol for 15-30 seconds each and rinsed with 1x PBS twice. Cells were then stained with DAPI (1:5000) for 2-5 minutes and mounted using Fluoromount Aqueous Mounting Medium (Sigma). Mounted cells were stored in the dark at 4°C and lipid content was later visualized using a fluorescent microscope (Olympus BX41 microscope connected to a DP71 Olympus camera, 20x objective). Four images were

captured for each biological replicate and background-corrected fluorescence intensity and cell number were quantified using ImageJ 1.52q software. For each image, a fluorescence intensity per cell ratio was created. The intensity per cell ratio of four images was combined to create a mean intensity per cell value for one biological replicate. Data were normalized to the vehicle control or male BMDMs depending on the study conducted. Normalized lipid accumulation values were represented as a percentage of the control.

3.7 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 7 software. Data were analyzed using two-tailed unpaired t-test or a one or two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test followed by Tukey's post hoc test to detect significant differences in sample means between groups. Statistical significance was determined by a p-value less than 0.05.

4. RESULTS

4.1 Sex differences and characterization of BMDM polarization

Our laboratory has previously established protocols to polarize murine BMDMs into proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory macrophages⁸⁹. To create a baseline phenotypic profile over time for pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory BMDMs, male- and female-derived bone marrow monocytes were differentiated into BMDMs in the presence of M-CSF. Differentiated macrophages were polarized into pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory phenotypes by exposure to LPS (100 ng/mL) and IFN γ (20 ng/mL) or IL-4 (10 ng/mL), respectively, for 6, 24 or 48 hours. Controls (unpolarized BMDMs) were treated with vehicle alone. Gene expression of pro-inflammatory (iNOS, TNF- α , IL-1 β , CD38) and anti-inflammatory (Arg1, Fizz1, Ym1, CD206) markers was quantified using RT-qPCR (**Figure 7, 8**).

When BMDMs derived from either male or female mice were treated with LPS and IFN γ , mRNA expression of iNOS, TNF- α , IL-1 β , and CD38 was significantly upregulated (**Figure 7**). Expression of all pro-inflammatory markers, except for CD38 (in males only, (**Figure 7 E**)), was the greatest following 6 hours of polarization. Conversely, when BMDMs were treated with IL-4, mRNA expression of Fizz1, Arg1, Ym1, and CD206 was significantly upregulated (**Figure 8**). Expression of Fizz1 and Ym1 was the lowest following 6 hours of treatment (**Figure 8 A, B, G, H**). However, Arg1 and CD206 expression was the greatest following 6 hours of treatment (**Figure 8 C-F**). While Arg1 and CD206 expression was also significantly upregulated after 24 and 48 hours of polarization, no significant differences in expression levels were observed between these time points in female-derived BMDMs. The data at each time point are consistent with existing data in the literature and signify that treatment with LPS+IFN γ and IL-4 was sufficient to polarize BMDMs to the pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotypes, respectively.

28

Notably, after 24 hours, pro-inflammatory markers were significantly upregulated in proinflammatory macrophages and anti-inflammatory markers were significantly upregulated in anti-inflammatory macrophages. Thus, polarization for 24 hours was selected as an ideal time frame to carry out further analysis.



Figure 7: Gene expression of pro-inflammatory markers in male- and female-derived

BMDMs. Bone marrow monocytes from male and female C57BL/6 mice were differentiated into BMDMs and treated with LPS and IFN γ , IL-4, or a vehicle control for 6, 24, or 48 hours to polarize cells to the pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotypes, respectively, or to maintain an unpolarized phenotype. Gene expression of pro-inflammatory markers was quantified in male-(**A**, **C**, **E**, **G**) and female- (**B**, **D**, **F**, **H**) derived BMDMs using RT-qPCR. Data shown represent the mean ± SEM fold change ($2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$) in marker expression relative to the reference gene β -actin, normalized to the vehicle control. Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test were performed. (n=4, *p<0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001).



Figure 8: Gene expression of anti-inflammatory markers in male- and female-derived BMDMs. Bone marrow monocytes from male and female C57BL/6 mice were differentiated into BMDMs and treated with LPS and IFN γ , IL-4, or a vehicle control for 6, 24, or 48 hours to polarize cells to the pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotypes, respectively, or to maintain an unpolarized phenotype. Gene expression of anti-inflammatory markers was quantified in male-(**A**, **C**, **E**, **G**) and female- (**B**, **D**, **F**, **H**) derived BMDMs using RT-qPCR. Data shown represent the mean ± SEM fold change (2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct}) in marker expression relative to the reference gene β -actin, normalized to the vehicle control. Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test were performed. (n=4, *p<0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001).

In the above experiment, differences in BMDM polarization between male- and femalederived BMDMs could not be directly assessed because the sexes were not examined concurrently. To directly investigate potential sex differences, the same protocol was carried out, using male and female mice at the same time. Differentiated macrophages derived from male or female mice were polarized to pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotypes, or left unpolarized for 24 hours, and gene expression of pro- or anti-inflammatory markers was quantified. Gene expression of TNF- α (Figure 9 B) and IL-1 β (Fig 9 C) in female-derived pro-inflammatory BMDMs was significantly elevated compared to male-derived BMDMs. In addition, femalederived anti-inflammatory BMDMs demonstrated significantly upregulated gene expression of Fizz1 (Fig 9 E) and Ym1 (Fig 9 H). These data suggest that female-derived BMDMs may respond more readily to polarization treatments or that these cells may be more susceptible to environmental stimuli. To investigate whether biological sex affects gene expression of estrogen or and rogen receptors, unpolarized BMDMs were collected and gene expression of AR, $ER\alpha$, ERβ, and GPER1 was assessed. Female-derived BMDMs demonstrated significantly greater expression of AR (Figure 10 A) compared to male BMDMs. No sex differences were observed in the expression of estrogen receptors (Fig 10 B-D).





Figure 9: Sex differences in gene expression of BMDM polarization markers. Bone marrow monocytes from male and female C57BL/6 mice were differentiated into BMDMs and treated with LPS and IFNγ, IL-4, or a vehicle control for 24 hours to polarize cells to the pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotypes, respectively, or to maintain an unpolarized phenotype. Gene expression of pro-inflammatory (**A-D**) and anti-inflammatory (**E-H**) macrophage markers was quantified in female- and male-derived BMDMs using RT-qPCR. Data shown represent the mean ± SEM fold change (2^{-ΔΔCt}) in marker expression relative to the reference gene β-actin, normalized to male BMDMs. Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test were performed. (n=4, *p<0.05, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001).



Figure 10: Sex differences in gene expression of sex hormone receptors in BMDMs. Bone marrow monocytes from male and female C57BL/6 mice were differentiated into BMDMs. Gene expression of A. AR, B. ER α , C. ER β , and D. GPER1 was quantified by RT-qPCR. Data shown represent the mean ± SEM fold change (2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct}) in receptor expression relative to the reference gene β -actin, normalized to male BMDMs. Two-tailed unpaired t-test was used to evaluate significant differences. (n=4, *p<0.05).

4.2 BMDM polarization is affected by 17β-estradiol and testosterone supplementation

To determine if BMDM polarization is affected by supplementation with E2 or TE, differentiated BMDMs derived from male or female mice were treated with E2 (100 nM) or TE (100 nM) for 24 hours, and then polarized to the pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotypes, as described above. mRNA expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory markers was quantified using RT-qPCR.

Figure 11 illustrates the effects of E2 on BMDM polarization after 24 hours. Treatment with E2 resulted in a significant reduction in iNOS and TNF- α mRNA expression compared to vehicle controls in pro-inflammatory macrophages derived from female (**Fig 11 B, D**), but not male (**Fig 11 A, C**) BMDMs. A (non-significant) a trend towards a reduction in proinflammatory marker expression in response to E2 treatment can be observed in male-derived BMDMs (**Fig 11 A, C**). In anti-inflammatory macrophages derived from female mice, treatment with E2 significantly increased mRNA expression of Fizz1 (**Fig 11 F**) and Arg1 (**Fig 11 H**) compared to the vehicle control. No significant differences were observed in male derived BMDMs, but a trend towards an increase in anti-inflammatory marker expression was observed following E2 treatment compared with the vehicle control. These data suggest that E2 may alter polarization to both the pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotype and may affect male- and femalederived BMDMs differently, or to a different extent.



Figure 11: Gene expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory markers in male- and femalederived BMDMs pre-treated with 100 nM 17β-estradiol (E2). BMDMs were pre-treated with 100 nM E2 for 24 hours and polarized to pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophages using LPS and IFNγ or IL-4, respectively, or the vehicle control, for 24 hours. Gene expression of **A.** iNOS, **C.** TNF-α, **E.** Fizz1, and **G.** Arg1 from male-derived BMDMs and **B.** iNOS, **D.** TNF-α, **F.** Fizz1, and **H.** Arg1 from female-derived BMDMs 24 hours following polarization was quantified by RT-qPCR. Data shown represent the mean ± SEM fold change $(2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct})$ in marker expression relative to reference gene β-actin, normalized to the vehicle control. Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test were performed to evaluate significant differences (n=3-5, *p<0.05, **p < 0.01, ****p < 0.0001).

The effects of TE on BMDM polarization after 24 hours are presented in Figure 12.

Treatment with TE did not significantly impact iNOS or TNF- α expression in female- (Figure

12 B, D) or male-(Figure 12 A, C) derived pro-inflammatory BMDMs compared to vehicle-

treated controls. A trend of increasing pro-inflammatory marker expression with TE

supplementation can be observed in these cells. TE treatment significantly downregulated Fizz1

mRNA expression in anti-inflammatory BMDMs (Figure 12 E, F) compared to vehicle controls.

Conversely, TE treatment significantly upregulated Arg1 mRNA expression in anti-

inflammatory BMDMs derived from male (Figure G) but not female (Figure H) mice,

compared to vehicle controls. These data suggest that TE treatment significantly affects

polarization to the anti-inflammatory phenotype and may enhance pro-inflammatory macrophage

polarization.



Figure 12: Gene expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory markers in male- and femalederived BMDMs pre-treated with 100 nM testosterone (TE). BMDMs were pre-treated with 100 nM TE for 24 hours and polarized to pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophages using LPS and IFN γ or IL-4, respectively, or the vehicle control, for 24 hours. Gene expression of **A.** iNOS, **C.** TNF- α , **E.** Fizz1, and **G.** Arg1 from male-derived BMDMs and **B.** iNOS, **D.** TNF- α , **F.** Fizz1 **H.** Arg1 from female-derived BMDMs 24 hours following polarization was quantified by RTqPCR. Data shown represent the mean ± SEM fold change (2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct}) in marker expression relative to reference gene β -actin, normalized to the vehicle control. Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test were performed to evaluate significant differences (n=3-5, *p<0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p < 0.0001).

Different subsets of female-derived BMDMs were supplemented with TE or E2 for 24 hours and polarized for 6 hours. Contrary to 24-hour data, E2 supplementation significantly increased iNOS (**Supplementary Figure 1 A**) and TNF- α (**Supplementary Figure 1 C**) mRNA expression after 6 hours of polarization with LPS+IFN γ compared to the vehicle control. In antiinflammatory macrophages polarized for 6 hours, E2 supplementation did not affect Fizz1 (**Supplementary Figure 1 E**) mRNA expression but resulted in a significant increase in Arg1 (**Supplementary Figure 1 G**) mRNA expression compared to the vehicle. Equivalent treatment with TE did not alter iNOS (**Supplementary Figure 1 B**) mRNA expression but significantly reduced TNF- α (**Supplementary Figure 1 D**) mRNA expression in pro-inflammatory macrophages polarized for 6 hours. Further, TE treatment did not alter Fizz1 (**Supplementary Figure 1 H**) expression in anti-inflammatory macrophages compared to the vehicle control.

The pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization pathway involves several mechanistic steps. IFN γ binding to the IFN γ receptor results in downstream STAT1 phosphorylation and activation, and eventual gene transcription of iNOS^{95,96}. Also, activation of the TLR4 by LPS results in binding to interferon regulatory factor 5 (IRF5), causing nuclear translocation and gene transcription of pro-inflammatory mediators, as well as inhibition of interferon regulatory factor

M.Sc. Thesis – S. Enright; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

4 (IRF4), a key transcription factor mediating anti-inflammatory macrophage pathways⁹⁶. Conversely, anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization is mediated by the IL-4 receptor⁹⁷. Receptor activation results in STAT6 phosphorylation and IRF4 activation, resulting in nuclear translocation and gene transcription of Arg1, Ym1, and Fizz1^{97,98}. Given that E2 and TE supplementation altered pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization, we hypothesized that E2 and TE supplementation may affect STAT1/6 and IRF4/5 activity.

While analysis at the protein level was preferred, experimental constraints interfered with our ability to carry out these analyses. Alternatively, we investigated whether E2 or TE supplementation altered STAT1, STAT6, IRF4, or IRF5 at the level of gene expression. Analysis at the level of expression is relevant in this context because STAT6 upregulation in RAW264.7 macrophages promoted anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization³⁹. **Figure 13** demonstrates the effects of E2 supplementation on gene expression of STAT1, STAT6, IRF4, and IRF5 in proand anti-inflammatory macrophages derived from male or female mice. E2 supplementation significantly reduced STAT1 gene expression in female-derived BMDMs (**Figure 13 A**). No other significant differences in transcription factor gene expression were observed in E2-treated BMDMs (**Figure 13 B-H**). TE supplementation did not significantly alter gene expression of STAT1, STAT6, IRF4, or IRF5 in pro- or anti-inflammatory BMDMs (**Figure 14**). These data indicate that E2 and TE may not play a meaningful role in regulating macrophage polarization at the level of transcription, however, mediation at the protein level is possible.



M.Sc. Thesis – S. Enright; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

Figure 13: Gene expression of transcription factors in pro- or anti-inflammatory BMDMs treated with 17 β -estradiol (E2). BMDMs were pre-treated with 100 nM E2 for 24 hours and polarized into pro- or anti-inflammatory macrophages using LPS and IFN γ , IL-4, or the vehicle control, for 24 hours. Gene expression of transcription factors from A-D female- and E-H male-derived BMDMs was quantified by RT-qPCR. Data shown represent the mean ± SEM fold change (2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct}) in target gene expression relative to reference gene β -actin, normalized to the vehicle control. Two-tailed unpaired t-test was used to evaluate significant differences. (n=4, *p<0.05).





Figure 14: Gene expression of transcription factors in pro- and anti-inflammatory BMDMs treated with 100 nM testosterone (TE). BMDMs were pre-treated with 100 nM TE for 24 hours and polarized into pro- or anti-inflammatory macrophages using LPS and IFN γ , IL-4, or the vehicle control for 24 hours. Gene expression of transcription factors from A-D female- and E-H male-derived BMDMs was quantified by RT-qPCR. Data shown represent the mean ± SEM fold change (2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct}) in target gene expression relative to reference gene β -actin, normalized to the vehicle control. Two-tailed unpaired t-test was used to evaluate significant differences. (n=4, p = 0.05).

Taken together, treatment with TE or E2 resulted in similar expression patterns in macrophage markers, with some deviances. E2 significantly dampened pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization and both E2 and TE promoted anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization. Thus, macrophage polarization may be similarly impacted by the sex hormones they encounter. Also, biological sex may be an independent factor that determines how BMDM polarization is altered by sex hormone supplementation.

4.3 Sex differences and the effects of sex hormone supplementation on BMDM inflammatory response

Inflammatory response is a critical function of macrophages in an atherosclerotic plaque. To assess whether sex is an independent factor affecting inflammatory response of BMDMs, differentiated BMDMs derived from male or female mice were polarized into pro- or antiinflammatory macrophages for 24 hours, and protein concentration of secreted cytokines and chemokines in cell culture media was analyzed using an ALBIA assay. A comprehensive analysis of all analytes measured in M0 macrophages is presented in **Figure 15**. BMDMs derived from female mice displayed a significantly greater production of IL-1 β , IL-3, IL-6, and LIF, and significantly lower production of MIP-1 β compared to male-derived BMDMs. Proinflammatory macrophages derived from female BMDMs displayed significantly upregulated levels of IL-7, IL-9 and KC, and significantly downregulated production of MIG compared to male-derived BMDMs (**Supplementary Figure 2**). Lastly, anti-inflammatory macrophages derived to male-derived BMDMs (**Supplementary Figure 3**).





Figure 15: Protein concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines secreted by unpolarized BMDMs derived from male and female mice. Bone marrow monocytes were differentiated into BMDMs, and cells were treated with the vehicle control for 24 hours. Data shown represent the mean \pm SEM protein concentration of secreted cytokines and chemokines from cell culture media of BMDMs derived from male and female mice, quantified by an addressable laser bead immunoassay (ALBIA). Two-tailed unpaired t-test was used to evaluate significant differences. (n=5-8, *p<0.05, **p<0.01).

To further investigate these observed sex differences, differentiated BMDMs were pretreated with E2 (100 nM) or TE (100 nM) for 24 hours prior to polarization to the proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory phenotype. Protein concentration of cytokines and chemokines present culture media was analyzed using an ALBIA assay and mRNA expression of IL-1 β in vehicle controls was compared. Because IL-1 β is a key inflammatory mediator in atherosclerosis⁴⁰, we focused our analysis on this cytokine. As previously mentioned, IL-1 β protein concentration was significantly greater in M0 macrophages derived from female mice (**Figure 16 A**) but no significant sex differences in IL-1 β protein concentration were observed in pro- or anti-inflammatory macrophages (**Figure 16 B, C**). IL-1 β mRNA expression in femalederived M0 and pro-inflammatory BMDMs was significantly greater compared to male-derived BMDMs (**Figure 16 D, E**) thereby corroborating ALBIA data. E2 and TE treatment resulted in a significant reduction in IL-1 β production in female- but not male-derived pro-inflammatory macrophages (**Figure 16 G, I**). Overall, biological sex may represent an independent factor affecting pro-inflammatory response, and both E2 and TE may alter the production of IL-1 β in pro-inflammatory, female-derived BMDMs.



Figure 16: Sex differences and the effects of 17 β -estradiol (E2) and testosterone (TE) on IL-1 β protein concentration and mRNA expression in BMDMs. A-F: Differentiated BMDMs from female and male mice were polarized to pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotypes or left untreated for 24 hours. Protein concentration of IL-1 β from A. unpolarized B. pro-inflammatory, and C. anti-inflammatory BMDM culture medium was quantified using an addressable laser bead immunoassay (ALBIA). Gene expression of IL-1 β from D. unpolarized E. proinflammatory, and F. anti-inflammatory BMDMs was quantified by RT-qPCR. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM fold change (2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct}) in IL-1 β expression relative to reference gene β -actin, normalized to the vehicle control (A-C), or mean \pm SEM IL-1 β protein concentration (D-F). Significant differences were detected using two-tailed unpaired t-tests. G-J: Differentiated BMDMs were pre-treated with 100 nM E2, TE, or vehicle control for 24 hours prior to polarization. Data shown are the mean \pm SEM IL-1 β protein concentration from cell culture medium. One-way ANOVA and Tukey's post-hoc test were used to evaluate significant differences. (n=4-8, *p<0.05, **p<0.01).

Due to the use of E2-free cell culture conditions, it was unclear if the observed increases in expression and abundance of pro-inflammatory cytokines by female-derived BMDMs was a result of true sex differences in this model, or rather due to the deprivation of endogenous E2 that female-derived cells experienced in culture. To address this question, bone marrow was collected from male and female mice, and the same bone marrow monocyte differentiation protocol was carried out with the addition of daily treatments of 100 nM E2 or vehicle control. The addition of daily E2 treatment represented exposure to endogenous estrogen. Differentiated macrophages were collected, and gene expression of IL-1 β and was measured using RT-qPCR. E2 supplementation for 6 days resulted in a significant reduction in IL-1ß expression in femalederived BMDMs (Figure 17). Control (untreated) female BMDMs demonstrated significantly greater expression of IL-1 β compared to male control-treated BMDMs (p-value < 0.0001). However, while IL-1ß expression in female E2-treated BMDMs was significantly greater than male control-treated BMDMs, the significance level of this comparison was lower (p value = 0.0395). These data suggest that E2-free experimental conditions did not precipitate the sex differences previously observed in this study.



Figure 17: Effects of long-term 17β-estradiol (E2) exposure on IL-1β expression in BMDMs. Isolated bone marrow monocytes were differentiated into BMDMs with or without daily treatments of E2 (100 nM). Gene expression of IL-1β was quantified by RT-qPCR. Data shown are the mean ± SEM fold change $(2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct})$ in IL-1β expression relative to reference gene βactin, normalized to the vehicle-treated male control. One-way ANOVA and Tukey's post-hoc test were used to evaluate significant differences. (n=4, *p<0.05, ***p<0.001).

4.4 Sex differences and the effects of sex hormone supplementation on BMDM migratory

response

Migration is an important function of macrophages in an atherosclerotic plaque⁴². To assess whether biological sex is a factor affecting macrophage migration, BMDMs derived from male and female mice were polarized and a Transwell migration assay was performed. Cell migration calculations accounted for passive migration and were presented as percentages normalized to male-derived BMDMs or untreated controls. No sex difference was observed in the normalized number of pro-inflammatory macrophages migrated (**Fig 18 A**). However, significantly fewer anti-inflammatory macrophages derived from female mice migrated compared to male-derived BMDMs (**Figure 18 B**).

To address this difference observed, BMDMs were treated with E2 (100 nM) or vehicle for 24 hours prior to macrophage polarization and Transwell migration assay. E2 treatment did not significantly affect pro-inflammatory macrophage migration regardless of sex (**Figure 18 C**, **D**). Interestingly, E2 significantly enhanced female-derived anti-inflammatory BMDM migration (**Figure 18 E**). Treatment with TE (100 nM) did not significantly alter BMDM migration (**Supplementary Figure 4**). These data indicate that E2 but not TE may promote migration of anti-inflammatory BMDMs.



Figure 18: Sex differences and the effects of 100 nM 17β-estradiol (E2) on BMDM migration. Differentiated BMDMs from female and male mice were polarized to pro- or antiinflammatory phenotypes. A Transwell assay was performed with or without chemoattractant CCL19 in culture medium of the lower assay chamber. Data represent the mean ± SEM cell migration (%) of female **A.** pro-inflammatory or **B.** anti-inflammatory BMDMs, normalized to male BMDMs. **C-F:** Differentiated BMDMs were pre-treated with 100 nM E2 for 24 hours prior to polarization. Following the same Transwell protocol, mean ± SEM cell migration (%) of **C.**, **D.** pro-inflammatory or **E.**, **F.** anti-inflammatory BMDMs, normalized vehicle-treated controls, was calculated. Two-tailed, unpaired t-tests were performed to evaluate significant differences (n=3-4, *p<0.05, ***0.001).

4.5 Sex differences and the effects of 17β-estradiol on BMDM lipid accumulation

Within the atherosclerotic lesion, pro-inflammatory macrophages accumulate lipids and become lipid-laden foam cells whereas anti-inflammatory macrophages transport deposited cholesterol out of the developing plaque^{31,99}. To determine sex differences and the effects of E2 and TE on BMDM lipid accumulation, male- and female-derived BMDMs were pre-treated with E2 or TE (100 nM), or vehicle and polarized as described above. Polarized BMDMs were

incubated in serum-free DMEM plating medium before incubation in regular DMEM plating medium with or without FBS. Cells were stained with ORO to visualize lipid molecules and DAPI for nuclei. Images were captured and normalized lipid accumulation was calculated as a percentage of the control (male or untreated BMDMs). Pro- and anti-inflammatory BMDMs derived from female mice demonstrated greater lipid accumulation compared to male-derived BMDMS (**Figure 19 A**). Treatments with E2 or TE did not significantly alter lipid accumulation of pro- or anti-inflammatory BMDMs (**Figure 19 B-I**). However, a non-significant reduction in lipid accumulation was observed in male-derived pro-inflammatory BMDMs (**Figure 19 G**). These data indicate that female-derived BMDMs may have a greater capacity to accumulate lipids, and that E2 and TE may not affect this cell function.



50

0

Control

ΤE

50

0

Control

ΤE

50

0

Control

тĖ

50

0

Control

тE

Figure 19: Sex differences and the effects of 100 nM 17β-estradiol (E2) and testosterone (**TE**) **on BMDM lipid accumulation.** Differentiated BMDMs from female and male mice were polarized to pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotypes. Cells were incubated in serum-free medium and then transferred into chamber slides in medium containing fetal bovine serum for 4 hours. Cells were stained with Oil Red O and DAPI. Fluorescence intensity of stained lipid droplets was quantified, and nuclei were counted. Mean intensity per cell ratios for each biological replicate were calculated and data were normalized to male BMDMs and represented as a percentage. Data represent the mean ± SEM lipid accumulation (%) of female **A.** pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory BMDMs, relative to male BMDMs. Representative images show male- and female-derived BMDMs stained with ORO and DAPI. **B-I:** Differentiated BMDMs were pretreated with 100 nM E2 (**B-E**) or TE (**F-I**) for 24 hours and were polarized to the pro- or anti-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory phenotypes. Mean ± SEM lipid accumulation (%) of pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory benotypes. Mean ± SEM lipid accumulation (%) of pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory BMDMs, normalized vehicle-treated controls, was calculated. Two-tailed, unpaired t-tests were performed to evaluate significant differences (n=3-4, *p<0.05).

5. DISCUSSION

Biological sex and concentrations of circulating sex hormones play a role in the progression of CVD^{43,48,49}. Macrophages are a primary cell type abundant in atherosclerotic lesions and their phenotypic distribution in a lesion has been correlated to plaque severity³³. In this study, we hypothesized that sex hormones alter macrophage polarization and proatherogenic function and thereby regulate the progression of atherosclerosis. To address our hypothesis, bone marrow was isolated from male and female mice, and bone marrow-derived monocytes were differentiated into BMDMs. BMDMs were polarized into pro- or antiinflammatory phenotypes. In order to investigate the effects of sex hormones, BMDMs were pretreated with E2 or TE (100 nM) and gene expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophage markers, protein concentration of inflammatory mediators, and migratory and lipid accumulation properties were examined.

5.1 Characterizing BMDM polarization in male- and female-derived BMDMs

The first objective of our study was to characterize BMDM polarization. This objective involved establishing a BMDM polarization profile over three time points stratified by biological sex, followed by a direct comparison of male- and female-derived BMDMs, and an analysis of sex hormone receptor expression. An important aspect of this investigation is the extensive use of macrophage polarization markers. Due to the complex and often overlapping nature of macrophage phenotypes and their phenotypic markers, quantification of several phenotypic markers allows for distinct characterization.

Our lab previously demonstrated that 95% of bone marrow-derived cells subjected to differentiation with M-CSF were F4/80+ and CD11b+ by flow cytometry, which verifies the efficiency of our macrophage differentiation protocol⁸⁹. In the present study, we expanded upon

55

this protocol by analyzing the gene expression of pro-inflammatory (iNOS, TNF- α , Il-1 β , and CD38) and anti-inflammatory (Arg1, Fizz1, Ym1, and CD206) macrophage markers following polarization. Macrophages treated with LPS and IFN γ demonstrated significantly upregulated expression of pro-inflammatory markers (**Figure 7**) and significantly downregulated expression of anti-inflammatory markers (**Figure 8**). This indicates successful polarization to the proinflammatory phenotype and is corroborated extensively in the literature ^{83,84,93,94}. Macrophages treated with IL-4 demonstrated significantly upregulated expression of anti-inflammatory markers (**Figure 8**) and significant downregulation of pro-inflammatory markers (**Figure 7**). These findings align with previous descriptions of anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization ^{83,84,93}. Therefore, we can conclude that macrophages were polarized successfully into pro- and anti-inflammatory BMDM phenotypes.

A characterization study of both male-and female-derived BMDMs over three time points, to our knowledge, has never been performed. To address this knowledge gap and to create a profile of macrophage polarization over time, we assessed the gene expression of macrophage markers following 6, 24, and 48 hours of polarization. Pro-inflammatory macrophage markers were most abundantly expressed following 6 hours of LPS and IFN γ treatment in both male and female derived cells, except for CD38 expression in female-derived cells (**Figure 7**). The early expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α may be attributable to the acute phase response¹⁰⁰. However, our findings reflect previous observations in which these markers were labelled as early pro-inflammatory macrophage markers⁸³. In antiinflammatory macrophages, gene expression of Arg1 and CD206 was the greatest following 6 hours of polarization and are in line with observations that Arg1 is an early marker for antiinflammatory macrophages⁸³. Our observations that Ym1 and Fizz1 are most abundantly

56
expressed by anti-inflammatory macrophages following 48 hours of polarization reflect findings that that implicate these markers as late anti-inflammatory macrophage markers¹⁰¹. Overall, we have successfully created a comprehensive profile of pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophage marker expression over time.

In addition to performing a side-by-side analysis of male- and female-derived BMDMs, we also directly compared gene expression of macrophage markers and sex hormone receptors in male- and female-derived BMDMs. Pro-inflammatory markers TNF- α and II-1 β , and antiinflammatory markers Fizz1 and Ym1, were significantly elevated in female-derived cells compared to male-derived cells, at the same time point (**Figure 9**). These data suggest that female-derived BMDMs may be more sensitive to environmental stimuli. These observations may also be attributable to the hormone deprivation that occurred as a result of our study protocol. This possible explanation will be further evaluated at a later point in this discussion.

In addition to direct effects of sex hormones, the influence of epigenetics and the effect of X and Y chromosomes in pathology are emerging areas of study that might contribute to the sex differences observed in this study (and elsewhere). Recently, it has been suggested that unresolved inflammation in atherosclerotic lesions could be caused, at least in part, by an impaired phenotypic switch of atherosclerosis-associated macrophages into anti-inflammatory macrophages¹⁰². These findings relate to the hypothesized epigenetic mechanism termed macrophage repolarization, in which M1-like macrophages are skewed towards an M2-like phenotype by turning off M1 machinery¹⁰³. Also, evidence of E2-and estrogen receptor-induced epigenetic mechanisms including DNA methylation, histone modification, and chromatin remodelling has been reviewed extensively elsewhere¹⁰⁴. These findings suggest that macrophage polarization in atherosclerosis could be regulated by E2 and estrogen receptors

through epigenetic mechanisms, thereby relating to sex differences observed in disease progression.

The number of X chromosomes has been demonstrated to affect pro-inflammatory cytokine production following toll-like receptor stimulation in human purified monocytes¹⁰⁵. Elevated levels of cytokines were reported in stimulated whole blood derived from men compared to women, and compared to individuals with Klinefelter syndrome (phenotypic males who carry two X chromosomes; XXY). These data suggest a potential therapeutic benefit related to the X chromosome. While these observations conflict with our findings that pro-inflammatory markers were upregulated in female-derived BMDMs, they may relate to the net effect of the X chromosome in whole blood analyses rather than on one cell type alone. Overall, epigenetics and chromosomal influence are emerging fields of research that may lead to connections between sex differences in atherosclerosis and macrophage polarization and functions.

We evaluated gene expression of AR, ER α , ER β , or GPER1 in male- and female-derived BMDMs (**Figure 10**). Female-derived BMDMs demonstrated a significantly greater expression of AR while no significant differences were observed in the gene expression of ER α , ER β , or GPER1. These data conflict with previous findings indicating that BMDMs from male rats exhibit significantly greater expression of AR than female-derived BMDMs¹⁰⁶. However, critical flaws in the experimental protocol including the use of reagents that may contain estrogenic activity, such as RPMI (containing phenol red) and standard FBS may have contributed to this result. It is possible that the increased expression of macrophage markers seen in female-derived BMDMs relates to the observed increase in AR expression in these cells. Further research is needed to determine a mechanistic basis for these sex differences observed in BMDM polarization.

Overall, within our first objective, we have created a comprehensive profile of BMDM polarization over 6, 24, and 48 hours stratified by biological sex. Further, we observed sex differences in BMDM polarization and in the expression of AR. Therefore, our first objective has been completed.

5.2 Effects of sex hormones on BMDM polarization

Once polarization was confirmed, we then investigated whether sex hormones impact macrophage polarization. Differentiated BMDMs were pre-treated with E2 or TE prior to polarization. We observed that pre-treatment with E2 impaired polarization to the proinflammatory phenotype by diminishing mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory markers and promoted polarization to the anti-inflammatory phenotype by enhancing expression of antiinflammatory markers (Figure 11). These findings are supported by evidence that E2 supplementation reduced pro-inflammatory marker expression including TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 in murine peritoneal macrophages and human peripheral blood monocytes¹⁰⁷. Pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization is regulated through pathways involving STAT1 phosphorylation and IRF5⁹⁵, whereas STAT6 phosphorylation and IRF4 activity are important for anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization⁹⁶. E2 may impact iNOS and TNF- α expression through its actions on AP1, NF- κ B, and STAT1⁸⁶. Also, E2 may regulate Arg1 expression through STAT6⁸⁶. In contrast, E2 promoted STAT1 DNA binding activity but did not increase expression of total or phosphorylated STAT1 protein in murine splenocytes¹⁰⁸. To investigate this mechanism further, we assessed the effects of E2 on gene expression of STAT1, IRF4, STAT6 and IRF5 (Figure 13). Due to experimental limitations, we were unable to assess these molecules at the protein level. E2 supplementation significantly reduced STAT1 transcript levels which is consistent with the dampened pro-inflammatory phenotype previously observed in Figure 11. This means that

STAT1 and downstream signaling, including STAT1 phosphorylation and nuclear translocation, may be involved in mechanisms by which E2 provides protection in atherosclerosis.

Significant differences in gene expression of iNOS and TNF- α in pro-inflammatory macrophages and Fizz1 and Arg1 in anti-inflammatory macrophages in response to E2 supplementation were only observed in cells derived from female mice (**Figure 11**). This may further support our interpretation that female-derived cells may be more sensitive to environmental stimuli, especially given that gene expression of estrogen receptors was not significantly different when comparing male- and female-derived BMDMs. This may also indicate a sex difference in the effects of E2 on BMDM polarization, or that a greater sample size in future studies is needed to overcome variability in the sample. Overall, we demonstrated that E2 may impair pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization and enhance anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization (**Figure 20**).

Pro-inflammatory marker expression was not affected by pre-treatment with TE, indicating that TE does not alter polarization to the pro-inflammatory phenotype (**Figure 12**). However, pre-treatment with TE resulted in an increase in Arg1 expression and a decrease in Fizz1 expression in anti-inflammatory macrophages, suggesting at least two opposing mechanistic actions of TE on anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization. To further delineate this mechanism, we analyzed the effects of TE on STAT6 and IRF4, which represent two separate pathways through which anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization is mediated⁹⁶. Because anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization was promoted in response to STAT6 upregulation³⁹, we hypothesized that TE supplementation may alter STAT6 expression level. However, no significant differences in expression of STAT6 or IRF4 were observed in response to TE supplementation (**Figure 14**), suggesting that TE may not affect these transcription factors

M.Sc. Thesis – S. Enright; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

at the transcript level. These data could be strengthened by an analysis at the protein level, including assessing STAT6 and IRF4 phosphorylation¹⁰⁹. Regardless, TE has been reported as an anti-inflammatory agent¹¹⁰ and our results partially support these claims. While our results indicate opposing actions of TE, it is possible that the net effect of TE results in a dampened anti-inflammatory phenotype. Overall, the effects of TE on macrophage polarization to the proinflammatory phenotype are unclear, but TE may promote polarization to the anti-inflammatory phenotype (**Figure 20**).

Taken together, our second objective of determining the effects of sex hormone supplementation on BMDM polarization was addressed. Our evidence supports a possible antiatherogenic role for E2 or TE in the context of macrophage polarization (**Figure 20**).



Figure 20: Proposed role of 17β -estradiol (E2) and testosterone (TE) on BMDM polarization and pro-atherogenic function. Bone marrow monocytes derived from male and female mice were differentiated into macrophages in E2-free medium. Differentiated BMDMs derived from female mice produced lower levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β . E2 pre-treatment impaired pro-inflammatory macrophage polarization and promoted antiinflammatory macrophage polarization, reduced the inflammatory response of pro-inflammatory macrophages, and promoted migration of anti-inflammatory macrophages. TE pre-treatment promoted anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization and reduced inflammatory response of pro-inflammatory macrophages. The effects of ET and TE on lipid accumulation are unclear. Taken together, these actions suggest a protective role of E2 and TE in atherosclerosis. (*Created with BioRender*).

5.3 Sex differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM pro-atherogenic functions.

5.3.1 Sex differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM inflammatory responses

Next, our third objective was to investigate sex differences in pro-atherogenic functions of BMDMs, including inflammatory response, migration, and lipid accumulation. To determine sex differences in inflammatory responses of BMDMs, we measured protein concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by unpolarized BMDMs derived from male or female mice (**Figure 15**). We observed that female-derived BMDMs produced significantly greater quantities of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-3, and IL-6 than male-derived BMDMs, suggesting a sex difference in inflammatory profiles at in M0 macrophages. Further research is

M.Sc. Thesis – S. Enright; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

needed to determine the specific mechanisms by which biological sex affects the regulation of these cytokines Alternatively, these observed sex differences may have been produced due to the loss of E2 exposure once cells were removed from their host. As E2 has been suggested to act as an anti-inflammatory agent⁷⁴ the loss of E2 exposure that BMDMs derived from female mice experienced during the requisite 6 days of culturing might relate to increased pro-inflammatory cytokine expression compared to male-derived BMDMs.

To address these questions, we conducted a brief study to determine if E2-free experimental conditions produced a confounding effect on inflammatory responses of femalederived macrophages (**Figure 17**). Interleukin-1β (IL-1β) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that has been identified as both a marker and mediator of inflammation in atherosclerosis⁴⁰. Notably, inhibition of IL-1β resulted in a significant reduction of CVD events in humans⁴¹. Therefore, IL-1β often used as a marker to evaluate severity of inflammation in atherosclerotic lesions and may be employed as an indicator of inflammatory properties of macrophages⁴⁰. For this reason, IL-1β was a primary marker of inflammation in our study. Isolated bone marrow-derived monocytes were supplemented with 100 nM E2 daily for 6 days while differentiation into BMDMs using M-CSF was carried out. We observed that daily E2 treatment dampened IL-1β expression in female-derived M0 macrophages, however, IL-1β expression in these E2-treated BMDMs remained significantly greater than in male-derived BMDMs. These data demonstrate that experimental conditions only partially precipitated inflammatory responses in female-derived BMDMs, and that sex differences in BMDM inflammatory response may still exist.

To further investigate the effects of E2 or TE on BMDM pro-inflammatory responses, we pre-treated BMDMs with E2 or TE prior to polarization and assessed the concentration of IL-1 β in cell culture media (**Figure 16**). We observed that E2 and TE treatment diminished IL-1 β

production by pro-inflammatory macrophages from female mice with a closely aligned trend observed in BMDMs from male mice. Interestingly, these findings are in line with the antiatherogenic effect of E2 on macrophage polarization previously observed in this study and elsewhere^{68,84}. Also, the anti-inflammatory role of TE previously suggested¹¹⁰ is further supported by these findings. Cleaved IL-1 β protein levels are largely regulated by the NLRP3 inflammasome through caspase-1^{111,112}. The NLRP3 inflammasome also regulates IL-18 protein levels in a similar manner ^{111,112}. Therefore, determining whether E2 and TE affect NLRP3 mRNA expression and IL-18 production could provide further insights into the mechanism by which E2 and TE regulate IL-1 β production. Taken together, E2 and TE may dampen inflammatory responses in pro-inflammatory macrophages, thereby supporting a protective role of these hormones in atherosclerosis (**Figure 20**).

5.3.2 Sex Differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM migration

Migration is a key function of macrophages with a dual effect. Migration of proinflammatory macrophages allows for the localization to areas of cholesterol content, which leads to foam cell formation⁴². However, migratory properties seen in anti-inflammatory macrophages may relate to increased cholesterol efflux and plaque stabilization⁴². To continue to address our third objective, we investigated whether any differences exist between male- and female-derived BMDMs in their ability to migrate towards the chemoattractant CCL19 (**Figure 18**). A Transwell migration assay was performed with CCL19 supplemented in the lower chamber, and data suggest a significantly lower migratory ability of female-derived antiinflammatory BMDMs compared to male-derived BMDMs. These data contribute to the trend observed in this study that female-derived BMDMs may be more sensitive to environmental stimuli than male-derived BMDMs. Furthermore, we supplemented BMDMs with E2 or TE prior

to performing the Transwell assay. In anti-inflammatory macrophages from both male- and female-derived mice, E2 supplementation increased migration towards CCL19. These data suggest a protective role for E2 in atherosclerosis by enhancing migration of anti-inflammatory macrophages (**Figure 20**).

One line of research suggests that rate of migration may be related to the expression of integrins $\alpha_M\beta_2$ and $\alpha_D\beta_2^{113}$. While integrins $\alpha_M\beta_2$ and $\alpha_D\beta_2$ affected pro-inflammatory macrophage migration in an opposing manner, both molecules promoted anti-inflammatory macrophage motility. Therefore, it is possible that E2 actions may regulate integrin molecule expression, which could explain the increase in migration of anti-inflammatory macrophages observed in our study. More research is needed in this area to better interpret these data. Additionally, TE supplementation did not appear to alter BMDM migration, despite evidence that 100 nM TE supplementation significantly increased T-cell regulator migration¹¹⁴. Overall, E2 may play a protective role in atherosclerosis by promoting migration of anti-inflammatory macrophages (**Figure 20**).

5.3.3 Sex Differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM lipid accumulation

Lipid accumulation by pro-inflammatory macrophages results in foam cell formation and eventual apoptosis and deposition of necrotic debris within the atherosclerotic plaque^{17,18}. However, lipid uptake by anti-inflammatory macrophages may promote cholesterol efflux and plaque regression^{31,99}. We investigated whether biological sex or sex hormones alter lipid accumulation of BMDMs. Differentiated BMDMs were treated with either E2 or TE, and polarized to the pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotypes. Polarized cells were stained with ORO to detect intracellular lipid droplets. We observed a greater percent lipid accumulation in female-derived pro- and anti-inflammatory BMDMs compared to male-derived BMDMs (**Figure 19**).

M.Sc. Thesis – S. Enright; McMaster University – Medical Sciences.

This indicates female biological sex as both an atherogenic and atheroprotective factor through actions on pro- and anti-inflammatory BMDMs, respectively²⁹. This result also reflects the trends in this study that female-derived BMDMs were more inflammatory and polarized to a different extent than male-derived BMDMs. Taken together, this information could indicate that female-derived BMDMs in this model are more sensitive to environmental stimuli, potentially due to the loss of E2 during cell culturing. Further investigation into the mechanisms by which this potential effect occurs would provide useful insight for future research using this model.

E2 and TE supplementation did not affect lipid accumulation by pro- or antiinflammatory BMDMs (male- or female-derived) in this study (**Figure 19**). This result may contrast findings that E2, but not TE, lowered human monocyte-derived macrophage cholesterol content¹¹⁵. It has been suggested that E2 may mediate its effects through ER α signaling involving sterol regulatory element binding protein-1 in a study of lipid accumulation and LDL uptake in HepG2 cells and THP-1 macrophages¹¹⁶. These data provide an example of how E2stimulated pathways may be manipulated to enhance cellular sensitivity to statins¹¹⁶. Overall, our data demonstrate that female-derived BMDMs accumulate lipids more readily, but the effects of E2 and TE on BMDM lipid accumulation remain inconclusive.

5.3.4 Summary of sex differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM proatherogenic functions.

The third objective of our investigation was to determine sex differences and the effects of sex hormones on BMDM pro-atherogenic functions. Thus far, have elucidated a possible sex difference in BMDM inflammatory response at baseline, in anti-inflammatory macrophage migration, as well as in lipid accumulation by pro-and anti-inflammatory macrophages. We did not observe significant differences in lipid accumulation after treatment with E2 or TE. However, the data indicated that both E2 and TE reduce inflammatory properties of pro-

inflammatory BMDMs. Furthermore, we have suggested that E2 may promote migration of antiinflammatory macrophages. These observations suggest a protective role of E2 and TE in atherosclerosis (**Figure 20**).

5.6 Limitations

The primary limitation of our study is that the use of BMDMs *in vitro* as a proxy for macrophages in atherogenesis, and the application of E2 and TE to these cells, are both oversimplifications of dynamic and complicated pathological and endocrinological systems. Also, our study does not evaluate the effects of progesterone, or the combination of sex hormones, both of which are relevant and necessary to examine. The goal of this study is to create a snapshot of the interactions between sex hormones and macrophages. Insights gained from this study can be expanded upon using *in vivo* models of atherosclerosis, but not to draw conclusions about human physiology or pathology.

Another limitation of our study is that we were unable to investigate mechanistic effects of E2 and TE at the protein level despite successful quantification of total protein. Detection of total and phosphorylated STAT6 and STAT1 was unsuccessful due to extremely low abundance of total and phosphorylated target protein relative to loading controls such as β -actin. More work is needed to better optimize this system.

Additionally, executing a study with a large scope came the expense of a small sample size. However, the sources of BMDMs (C57BL/6 mice) are genetically identical and were not subject to any interventions that may introduce variability, such as drug injections or diet control. Also, care was taken to make direct and reliable comparisons. This includes accounting for time as a variable that may affect the quality of comparisons. We are confident that the results

presented in this study are accurate because of the internal consistency demonstrated throughout our findings.

5.4 Future Directions

5.4.1 Investigating the effects of E2 and TE on macrophage functions: apoptosis and efferocytosis.

Atherosclerotic plaque severity can be signified by the presence and development of a necrotic core^{17,18}. Necrotic cores are formed by foam cell apoptosis and deposition of necrotic debris¹⁸. Macrophages within the plaque can efferocytose this necrotic debris and slow plaque progression^{31,99}. Thus, apoptosis and efferocytosis are prominent cell functions that could be affected by E2 and TE. Future research should investigate the effects of E2 and TE on these functions to gain further insight into the role of sex hormones in atherosclerosis.

5.4.2 Investigating the effects of progesterone on macrophage polarization and functions.

Progesterone is a secondary sex hormone that plays an important role in promoting and maintaining pregnancy¹¹⁷. Circulating levels of progesterone oscillate throughout the menstrual cycle and are reduced in post-menopausal individuals¹¹⁷. As such, it has been suggested that premenopausal CVD protection may also be attributable to circulating progesterone^{118–121}. However, the role of progesterone in CVD is infrequently studied and unclear. Future research should examine the role that progesterone might play in macrophage polarization and functions, and atherosclerosis in general.

5.4.3. Investigating the effects of E2 and TE on macrophage phenotypes and functions *in vivo*.

Plaque severity has been related to the predominance of pro- or anti-inflammatory macrophages in mice and humans²⁹. While our study elucidates effects of *in vitro* E2 and TE

supplementation on macrophage polarization and function, it is unclear how this may translate to *in vivo* models. Administering E2 or TE treatments to ovariectomized and sham-operated control ApoE^{-/-}mice and observing the phenotypic distribution of macrophages in an atherosclerotic lesion is an example of a realistic extension of our experimental model.

5.4.4 Identifying the specific mechanisms by which sex hormones act on macrophage polarization and functional pathways

Our study demonstrated that sex hormones may regulate macrophage polarization and pro-atherogenic functions, which could ultimately provide protection from atherosclerosis. However, the global effect that sex hormones have throughout the body creates a limitation in our ability to treat cardiovascular diseases using exogenous hormones without harmful or off-target adverse effects¹²². Therefore, identifying specific mechanisms by which sex hormones act on pathways that regulate macrophage polarization and pro-atherogenic functions is a crucial long-term goal of this research. Identifying specific mechanistic actions could lead to the discovery of key targets that could be manipulated by more specific, and safer, drug therapies.

6.0 CONCLUSION

The purpose of our investigation was to identify sex differences and the effects of sex hormone supplementation on macrophage polarization and pro-atherogenic function. Our findings suggest that sex differences may exist in macrophage polarization, pro-inflammatory responses, migration, and lipid accumulation. We propose an atheroprotective role for E2 by dampening polarization to the pro-inflammatory phenotype and promoting polarization to the anti-inflammatory phenotype, and by dampening inflammatory responses of pro-inflammatory macrophages. E2 may also promote migration of anti-inflammatory macrophages. Furthermore, our data supports an atheroprotective role for TE by promoting anti-inflammatory macrophage polarization and by impairing inflammatory responses of pro-inflammatory macrophages. Altogether, these actions suggest a protective role for both E2 and TE in atherosclerosis.

While sex hormones appeared to have a positive effect on macrophage pro-atherogenic functions, sex differences can also arise from differences in chromosome number¹⁰⁵ and actions of sex hormones on epigenetics¹⁰⁴. Also, while we proposed that TE and E2 may have a net positive effect atherogenesis, we demonstrated that these hormones affect individual functions of macrophages differently. This illustrates that E2 and TE act through differing, and sometimes opposing mechanisms in macrophages, and may further explain sex differences observed in this model. E2 and TE both impact several diverse signaling networks throughout the body, many of which have yet to be discovered. Identifying and delineating these mechanisms will contribute to significant advances in understanding their effects in males and females, separately.

Our study provides a unique opportunity to explain the effects of sex hormones on macrophage polarization and function in atherogenesis. Because of the important role that

macrophages play in atherosclerosis, observations made from this work will provide insights into the interactions of biological sex and cardiovascular disease. Ultimately, this research supports the development of more effective sex-specific strategies to better treat individuals with CVD.

7.0 REFERENCES

- 1. The top 10 causes of death. World Health Organization. Published December 9, 2020. Accessed January 9, 2022. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10causes-of-death
- 2. Holger Winkels, Erik Ehinger, Melanie Vassallo, et al. Atlas of the Immune Cell Repertoire in Mouse Atherosclerosis Defined by Single-Cell RNA-Sequencing and Mass Cytometry. *Circ Res.* 2018;122(12):1675-1687.
- Atherosclerosis. Heart Research Institute. Accessed January 9, 2022. https://www.hri.org.au/health/learn/cardiovasculardisease/atherosclerosis#:~:text=Atherosclerosis%20is%20the%20main%20underlying,the %20heart%20throughout%20the%20body
- 4. Delfino A, Stergiopulos N, Moore JE, Meister JJ. Residual strain effects on the stress field in a thick wall finite element model of the human carotid bifurcation. *J Biomech*. 1997;30(8):777-786.
- 5. Institute of Medicine. *Cardiovascular Disability: Updating the Social Security Listings.*; 2010. doi:https://doi.org/10.17226/12940
- 6. Truelson T, Begg S, Mathers C. The Global Burden of Cerebrovascular Disease. *World Health Organization*. Published online 2006.
- 7. Rafieian-Kopaei M, Setorki M, Doudi M, Baradaran A, Nasri H. Atherosclerosis: Process, Indicators, Risk Factors and New Hopes. *Int J Prev Med.* 2014;5(8):927-946. www.ijpm.ir
- 8. Moore KJ, Tabas I. The Cellular Biology of Macrophages in Atherosclerosis. *Cell*. 2011;145(3):341-355. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.04.005
- 9. Witztum JL, Steinberg D. The Oxidative Modification Hypothesis of Atherosclerosis: Does It Hold for Humans? *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* 2001;11(3):93-102.
- 10. Simionescu M. Implications of Early Structural-Functional Changes in the Endothelium for Vascular Disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2007;27(2):266-274. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000253884.13901.e4
- 11. Ross R. Atherosclerosis An Inflammatory Disease. *N Engl J Med.* 1999;340(2):115-126.
- 12. De Paoli F, Staels B, Chinetti-Gbaguidi G. Macrophage phenotypes and their modulation in atherosclerosis. *Circulation Journal*. 2014;78(8):1775-1781. doi:10.1253/circj.CJ-14-0621
- 13. Hansson GK, Libby P. The immune response in atherosclerosis: A double-edged sword. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2006;6(7):508-519. doi:10.1038/nri1882
- 14. Lusis AJ. Atherosclerosis. *Nature*. 2000;407(6801):233-241. www.nature.com
- 15. Libby P. Inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Nature*. 2002;420(6817):868-874. www.nature.com/nature
- 16. Libby P, Aikawa M, Schönbeck U. Cholesterol and atherosclerosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2000;1529(1-3):299-309. doi:10.1016/S1388-1981(00)00161-X
- 17. Chinetti-Gbaguidi G, Colin S, Staels B. Macrophage subsets in atherosclerosis. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2015;12(1):10-17. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2014.173
- 18. Tabas I. Consequences and therapeutic implications of macrophage apoptosis in atherosclerosis: The importance of lesion stage and phagocytic efficiency. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2005;25(11):2255-2264. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000184783.04864.9f
- 19. Ji E, Lee S, Santulli G. Antibody-Based Therapeutics for Atherosclerosis and Cardiovascular Diseases. *Int J Mol Sci*. 2021;22(11). doi:10.3390/ijms22115770

- 20. Birbrair A, Frenette PS. Niche heterogeneity in the bone marrow. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 2016;1370(1):82-96. doi:10.1111/nyas.13016
- 21. Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, Ley K. Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. *Science (1979)*. 2010;327(5966):656-661. doi:10.1126/science.1178331
- 22. Zhang X, Kang Z, Yin D, Gao J. Role of neutrophils in different stages of atherosclerosis. *Innate Immun.* Published online August 1, 2023. doi:10.1177/17534259231189195
- 23. Porcheray F, Viaud S, Rimaniol AC, et al. Macrophage activation switching: an asset for the resolution of inflammation. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 2005;142(3):481-489. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2005.02934.x
- 24. Lee S, Huen S, Nishio H, et al. Distinct Macrophage Phenotypes Contribute to Kidney Injury and Repair. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2011;22(2):317-326. doi:10.1681/ASN.2009060615
- 25. Mantovani A, Garlanda C, Locati M. Macrophage diversity and polarization in atherosclerosis: A question of balance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2009;29(10):1419-1423. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.180497
- 26. Duewell P, Kono H, Rayner KJ, et al. NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. *Nature*. 2010;464(7293):1357-1361. doi:10.1038/nature08938
- 27. Mosser DM. The many faces of macrophage activation. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2003;73(2):209-212. doi:10.1189/jlb.0602325
- 28. Stein M, Keshav S, Harris N, Gordon S. Interleukin 4 Potently Enhances Murine Macrophage Mannose Receptor Activity: A Marker of Alternative Immunologic Macrophage Activation. *J Exp Med.* 1992;176(1):287-292.
- 29. Gordon S. Alternative activation of macrophages. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2003;3(1):23-35. doi:10.1038/nri978
- 30. Colin S, Chinetti-Gbaguidi G, Staels B. Macrophage phenotypes in atherosclerosis. *Immunology Reviews*. 2014;262(1):153-166. doi:10.1111/imr.12218.
- 31. Mantovani A, Sica A, Sozzani S, Allavena P, Vecchi A, Locati M. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol*. 2004;25(12):677-686. doi:10.1016/j.it.2004.09.015
- 32. Zizzo G, Hilliard BA, Monestier M, Cohen PL. Efficient Clearance of Early Apoptotic Cells by Human Macrophages Requires M2c Polarization and MerTK Induction. *Journal of Immunology*. 2012;189(7):3508-3520. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200662
- 33. Jetten N, Verbruggen S, Gijbels MJ, Post MJ, De Winther MPJ, Donners MMPC. Antiinflammatory M2, but not pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages promote angiogenesis in vivo. *Angiogenesis*. 2014;17(1):109-118. doi:10.1007/s10456-013-9381-6
- 34. Stöger JL, Gijbels MJJ, van der Velden S, et al. Distribution of macrophage polarization markers in human atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*. 2012;225(2):461-468. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.09.013
- Monaco C, Manfredi AA, Belton O, et al. M1- and M2-Type Macrophage Responses Are Predictive of Adverse Outcomes in Human Atherosclerosis. *Front Immunol*. 2016;7(275):275. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00275
- 36. Cho KY, Miyoshi H, Kuroda S, et al. The phenotype of infiltrating macrophages influences arteriosclerotic plaque vulnerability in the carotid artery. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis.* 2013;22(7):910-918. doi:10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2012.11.020

- 37. Whan Lee C, Hwang I, Park CS, et al. Macrophage Heterogeneity of Culprit Coronary Plaques in Patients With Acute Myocardial Infarction or Stable Angina. *Am J Clin Pathol.* 2013;139(3):317-322. doi:10.1309/AJCP7KEYGN30BGQX
- 38. Khallou-Laschet J, Varthaman A, Fornasa G, et al. Macrophage plasticity in experimental atherosclerosis. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(1). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008852
- 39. Peled M, Fisher EA, Ley K, Jolla L. Dynamic aspects of macrophage polarization during atherosclerosis progression and regression. *Front Immunol*. 2014;5(579). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00579
- 40. Gong M, Zhuo X, Ma A. STAT6 Upregulation Promotes M2 Macrophage Polarization to Suppress Atherosclerosis. *Med Sci Monit Basic Res.* 2017;23:240-249. doi:10.12659/msmbr.904014
- 41. Mai W, Liao Y. Targeting IL-1β in the Treatment of Atherosclerosis. *Front Immunol*. 2020;11(589654). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.589654
- 42. Ridker PM, Thuren T, Zalewski A, Libby P. Interleukin-1β inhibition and the prevention of recurrent cardiovascular events: Rationale and Design of the Canakinumab Antiinflammatory Thrombosis Outcomes Study (CANTOS). *Am Heart J*. 2011;162(4):597-605. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2011.06.012
- 43. Barrett TJ. Macrophages in Atherosclerosis Regression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2020;40(1):20-33. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.119.312802
- 44. Norris CM, Yip CYY, Nerenberg KA, et al. State of the Science in Women's Cardiovascular Disease: A Canadian Perspective on the Influence of Sex and Gender. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020;9(4). doi:10.1161/JAHA.119.015634
- 45. Mehta LS, Beckie TM, DeVon HA, et al. Acute Myocardial Infarction in Women: A Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2016;133(9):916-947. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000351
- 46. Falk E, Nakano M, Bentzon JF, Finn A V., Virmani R. Update on acute coronary syndromes: The pathologists' view. *Eur Heart J*. 2013;34(10):719-728. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehs411
- 47. Lerner DJ, Kannel WB, Boston M. Patterns of coronary heart disease morbidity and mortality in the sexes: A 26-year follow-up of the Framingham population. *Am Heart J*. 1986;111(2):383-390.
- 48. Mosca L, Barrett-Connor E, Kass Wenger N. Sex/gender differences in cardiovascular disease prevention: What a difference a decade makes. *Circulation*. 2011;124(19):2145-2154. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.968792
- 49. Hayward CS, Kelly RP, Collins P. The roles of gender, the menopause and hormone replacement on cardiovascular function. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2000;46(1):28-49. doi:10.1016/s0008-6363(00)00005-5
- 50. Ruggiero RJ, Likis FE. Estrogen: Physiology, Pharmacology, and Formulations for Replacement Therapy. *J Midwifery Womens Health*. 2002;47(3):130-138.
- 51. Speroff L, GRH and KNG. *Clinical Gynecologic Endocrinology and Infertility*. 8th ed.; 1999.
- 52. Jones KP. Estrogens and progestins: what to use and how to use it. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* . 1992;35(4):871-883.
- 53. Li L, Zirkin BR, Papadopoulos V. Leydig cell androgen synthesis. *Encyclopedia of Reproduction*. 2018;1:215-221.

- 54. Zimmerman MA, Budish RA, Kashyap S, Lindsey SH. GPER Novel membrane oestrogen receptor. *Clin Sci*. 2016;130(12):1005-1016. doi:10.1042/CS20160114
- 55. Olde B, Leeb-Lundberg LMF. GPR30/GPER1: searching for a role in estrogen physiology. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* 2009;20(8):409-416. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2009.04.006
- 56. Filardo EJ, Quinn JA, Bland KI, Frackelton AR, Williams R. Estrogen-Induced Activation of Erk-1 and Erk-2 Requires the G Protein-Coupled Receptor Homolog, GPR30, and Occurs via Trans-Activation of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor through Release of HB-EGF. *Molecular Endocrinology*. 2000;14(10):1649-1660. https://academic.oup.com/mend/article/14/10/1649/2751076
- 57. Revankar CM, Mitchell HD, Field AS, et al. Synthetic estrogen derivatives demonstrate the functionality of intracellular GPR30. *ACS Chem Biol*. 2007;2(8):536-544. doi:10.1021/cb700072n
- 58. Pupo M, Vivacqua A, Perrotta I, et al. The nuclear localization signal is required for nuclear GPER translocation and function in breast Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts (CAFs). *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 2013;376(1-2):23-32. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2013.05.023
- 59. Dama A, Baggio C, Boscaro C, Albiero M, Cignarella A. Estrogen receptor functions and pathways at the vascular immune interface. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(8). doi:10.3390/ijms22084254
- 60. Clarkson TB. Estrogen effects on arteries vary with stage of reproductive life and extent of subclinical atherosclerosis progression. *Menopause*. 2018;25(11):1262-1274. doi:10.1097/gme.00000000001228
- 61. Anandita Agarwala, Michos ED, Samad Z, Ballantyne CM, Virani SS. The Use of Sex-Specific Factors in the Assessment of Women's Cardiovascular Risk. *Circulation*. 2020;141:592-599. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.043429
- 62. Maas AHEM, Rosano G, Cifkova R, et al. Cardiovascular health after menopause transition, pregnancy disorders, and other gynaecologic conditions: a consensus document from European cardiologists, gynaecologists, and endocrinologists. *Eur Heart J*. 2021;42:967-984. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa1044
- 63. Cox RL, Crawford ED. Estrogens in the treatment of prostate cancer. *J Urol*. 1995;154(6):1991-1998.
- 64. Tivesten Å, Hulthe J, Wallenfeldt K, Wikstrand J, Ohlsson C, Fagerberg B. Circulating estradiol is an independent predictor of progression of carotid artery intima-media thickness in middle-aged men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 2006;91(11):4433-4437. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-0932
- 65. Kaur H, Werstuck GH. The Effect of Testosterone on Cardiovascular Disease and Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Men: A Review of Clinical and Preclinical Data. *CJC Open.* 2021;3(10):1238-1248. doi:10.1016/j.cjco.2021.05.007
- 66. Laughlin GA, Barrett-Connor E, Bergstrom J. Low Serum Testosterone and Mortality in Older Men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2008;93(1):68-75. doi:10.1210/jc.2007-1792
- 67. Shores MM, Matsumoto AM, Sloan KL, Kivlahan DR. Low Serum Testosterone and Mortality in Male Veterans. *Arch Intern Med.* 2006;166(15):1660-1665. doi:10.1001/archinte.166.15.1660
- 68. Laughlin GA, Goodell V, Barrett-Connor E. Extremes of Endogenous Testosterone Are Associated with Increased Risk of Incident Coronary Events in Older Women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2010;95(2):740-747. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-1693

- 69. Murphy E. Estrogen signaling and cardiovascular disease. *Circ Res.* 2011;109(6):687-696. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.236687
- 70. Brouchet L, Krust A, Dupont S, Chambon P, Bayard F, Arnal F. Estradiol Accelerates Reendothelialization in Mouse Carotid Artery Through Estrogen Receptor-but Not Estrogen Receptor. *Circulation*. 2001;103(3):423-428. http://www.circulationaha.org
- 71. Pare G, Krust A, Karas RH, et al. Estrogen Receptor-Mediates the Protective Effects of Estrogen Against Vascular Injury. *Circ Res.* 2002;90(10):1087-1092. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000021114.92282.FA
- 72. Hodgin JB, Maeda N. Minireview: Estrogen and Mouse Models of Atherosclerosis. *Endocrinology*. 2002;143(12):4495-4501. doi:10.1210/en.2002-220844
- 73. Rodríguez E, López R, Paez A, Massó F, Montaño LF. 17β-estradiol inhibits the adhesion of leukocytes in TNF-α stimulated human endothelial cells by blocking IL-8 and MCP-1 secretion, but not its transcription. *Life Sci*. 2002;71(18):2181-2193. doi:10.1016/S0024-3205(02)01999-9
- 74. May Abu-Taha, Cristina Rius, Carlos Hermenegildo, et al. Menopause and ovariectomy cause a low grade of systemic inflammation that may be prevented by chronic treatment with low doses of estrogen or losartan. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2009;183(2):1393-1402. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803157
- Ghisletti S, Meda Č, Maggi A, Vegeto E. 17B-Estradiol Inhibits Inflammatory Gene Expression by Controlling NF-kB Intracellular Localization. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2005;25(8):2957-2968. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.8.2957-2968.2005
- 76. Calippe B, Douin-Echinard V, Laffargue M, et al. Chronic Estradiol Administration In Vivo Promotes the Proinflammatory Response of Macrophages to TLR4 Activation: Involvement of the Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Pathway. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2008;180(12):7980-7988. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.12.7980
- Arnal JF, Fontaine C, Billon-Galés A, et al. Estrogen receptors and endothelium. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2010;30(8):1506-1512. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.191221
- Bourghardt J, Wilhelmson ASK, Alexanderson C, et al. Androgen receptor-dependent and independent atheroprotection by testosterone in male mice. *Endocrinology*. 2010;151(11):5428-5437. doi:10.1210/en.2010-0663
- 79. Nathan L, Shi W, Dinh H, et al. Testosterone inhibits early atherogenesis by conversion to estradiol: Critical role of aromatase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98(6):3589-3593. www.pnas.orgcgidoi10.1073pnas.051003698
- 80. Mendelsohn ME, Rosano GMC. Hormonal Regulation of Normal Vascular Tone in Males. *Circ Res.* 2003;93(12):1142-1145. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000108694.68635.1C
- Venegas-Pino DE, Wang PW, Stoute HK, et al. Sex-Specific Differences in an ApoE-/-:Ins2+/Akita Mouse Model of Accelerated Atherosclerosis. *Am J Pathol.* 2016;186(1):67-77. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.09.009
- 82. Venegas-Pino DE, Lagrotteria A, Wang PW, et al. Evidence of extensive atherosclerosis, coronary artery disease and myocardial infarction in the ApoE-/-:Ins2+/Akita mouse fed a western diet. *Atherosclerosis*. 2018;275:88-96. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2018.05.044
- Be Paoli M, Wood DW, Bohn MK, et al. Investigating the protective effects of estrogen on β-cell health and the progression of hyperglycemia-induced atherosclerosis. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*. 2022;323(3):E254-E266. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00353.2021

- 84. Campbell L, Emmerson E, Williams H, et al. Estrogen receptor-alpha promotes alternative macrophage activation during cutaneous repair. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*. 2014;134(9):2447-2457. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.175
- 85. Dou C, Ding N, Zhao C, et al. Estrogen Deficiency–Mediated M2 Macrophage Osteoclastogenesis Contributes to M1/M2 Ratio Alteration in Ovariectomized Osteoporotic Mice. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*. 2018;33(5):899-908. doi:10.1002/jbmr.3364
- 86. G Shanker, M Sorci-Thomas, M R Adams. Estrogen modulates the expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA in phorbol ester-stimulated human monocytic THP-1 cells. *Lymphokine Cytokine Res.* 1994;13(6):377-382.
- 87. Bolego C, Cignarella A, Staels B, Chinetti-Gbaguidi G. Macrophage function and polarization in cardiovascular disease a role of estrogen signaling? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2013;33(6):1127-1134. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.301328
- 88. Becerra-Díaz M, Strickland AB, Keselman A, Heller NM. Androgen and Androgen Receptor as Enhancers of M2 Macrophage Polarization in Allergic Lung Inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2018;201(10):2923-2933. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1800352
- 89. Cioni B, Zaalberg A, van Beijnum JR, et al. Androgen receptor signalling in macrophages promotes TREM-1-mediated prostate cancer cell line migration and invasion. *Nat Commun.* 2020;11(4498). doi:10.1038/s41467-020-18313-y
- 90. Patel S, Werstuck G. Characterizing the Role of Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3α/β in Macrophage Polarization and the Regulation of Pro-Atherogenic Pathways in Cultured Ldlr-/- Macrophages. *Front Immunol*. 2021;12(676752). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.676752
- 91. Ying W, Cheruku PS, Bazer FW, Safe SH, Zhou B. Investigation of Macrophage Polarization Using Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*. 2013;(76):50323. doi:10.3791/50323
- 92. Chen K, Lin X, Xing L, et al. Variable Effects of Testosterone on Male versus Female Derived Macrophages in Inflammatory Arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol*. 2021;73(9).
- 93. Rettew JA, Huet-Hudson YM, Marriott I. Testosterone Reduces Macrophage Expression in the Mouse of Toll-Like Receptor 4, a Trigger for Inflammation and Innate Immunity. *Biol Reprod.* 2008;78:432-437. doi:10.1095/biolreprod.107.063545
- 94. He L, Jhong JH, Chen Q, et al. Global characterization of macrophage polarization mechanisms and identification of M2-type polarization inhibitors. *Cell Rep.* 2021;37(5). doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109955
- 95. Tugal D, Liao X, Jain MK. Transcriptional control of macrophage polarization. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2013;33(6):1135-1144. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.301453
- Miao X, Leng X, Zhang Q. Molecular Sciences The Current State of Nanoparticle-Induced Macrophage Polarization and Reprogramming Research. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2017;18(336). doi:10.3390/ijms18020336
- 97. McWhorter FY, Davis CT, Liu WF. Physical and mechanical regulation of macrophage phenotype and function. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2015;72(7):1303. doi:10.1007/S00018-014-1796-8
- 98. Zhou D, Huang C, Lin Z, et al. Macrophage polarization and function with emphasis on the evolving roles of coordinated regulation of cellular signaling pathways. *Cell Signal*. 2014;26(2):192-197. doi:10.1016/J.CELLSIG.2013.11.004

- 99. Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. *J Clin Invest.* 2012;122(3):787. doi:10.1172/JCI59643
- 100. Linton MF, Babaev VR, Huang J, Linton EF, Tao H, Yancey PG. Macrophage apoptosis and efferocytosis in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Circulation Journal*. 2016;80(11):2259-2268. doi:10.1253/circj.CJ-16-0924
- 101. Arango Duque G, Descoteaux A, Lacy P, Gavrilin MA, Zoe Murray R. Macrophage cytokines: involvement in immunity and infectious diseases. *Front Immunol*. 2014;5(491). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00491
- 102. Menzies FM, Henriquez FL, Alexander J, Roberts CW. Sequential expression of macrophage anti-microbial/inflammatory and wound healing markers following innate, alternative and classical activation. *Clin Exp Immunol*. 2009;160(3):369-379. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.04086.x
- 103. Bäck M, Yurdagul A, Tabas I, Öörni K, Kovanen PT. Inflammation and its resolution in atherosclerosis: mediators and therapeutic opportunities. *Nat Rev Cardiol*. 2019;16:389-406. doi:10.1038/s41569-019-0169-2
- 104. Yang H, Sun Y, Li Q, Jin F, Dai Y. Diverse Epigenetic Regulations of Macrophages in Atherosclerosis. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2022;9(868788). doi:10.3389/fcvm.2022.868788
- 105. Kovács T, Szabó-Meleg E, Ábrahám IM. Molecular Sciences Estradiol-Induced Epigenetically Mediated Mechanisms and Regulation of Gene Expression. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(9):3177. doi:10.3390/ijms21093177
- 106. Lefèvre N, Corazza F, Valsamis J, et al. The number of X chromosomes influences inflammatory cytokine production following Toll-like receptor stimulation. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10(1052). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.01052
- 107. Ahmadi K, Mccruden AB. Androgen Receptor in Macrophages of Male Rat is Greater Than in Female. *Am J Immunol*. 2005;1(1):48-54.
- 108. Leal Silva Souza C, Dutra Barbosa C, L N Coelho HI, et al. Effects of 17b-Estradiol on Monocyte/Macrophage Response to Staphylococcus aureus: An In Vitro Study. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021;11(701391). doi:10.3389/fcimb.2021.701391
- 109. Dai R, Phillips RA, Karpuzoglu E, Khan D, Ahmed SA. Estrogen Regulates Transcription Factors STAT-1 and NF-B to Promote Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase and Inflammatory Responses 1. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2009;183:6998-7005. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901737
- 110. Ngwa C, Al Mamun A, Xu Y, Sharmeen R, Liu F. Phosphorylation of Microglial IRF5 and IRF4 by IRAK4 Regulates Inflammatory Responses to Ischemia. *Cells*. 2021;10(276). doi:10.3390/cells10020276
- 111. Kelly DM, Sellers DJ, Woodroofe MN, Jones TH, Channer KS. Effect of Testosterone on Inflammatory Markers in the Development of Early Atherogenesis in the Testicular-Feminized Mouse Model. *Endocr Res.* 2013;38(3):125-138. doi:10.3109/07435800.2012.735307
- 112. Grebe A, Hoss F, Latz E. NLRP3 inflammasome and the IL-1 pathway in atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2018;122(12):1722-1740. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.311362
- 113. Jiang C, Xie S, Yang G, Wang N. Spotlight on NLRP3 Inflammasome: Role in Pathogenesis and Therapies of Atherosclerosis. J Inflamm Res. 2021;14:7143-7172. doi:10.2147/JIR.S344730

- 114. Cui K, Ardell CL, Podolnikova NP, Yakubenko VP. Distinct migratory properties of M1, M2, and resident macrophages are regulated by αdβ2and αmβ2integrin-mediated adhesion. *Front Immunol*. 2018;9(2650). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02650
- 115. Fijak M, Schneider E, Klug J, et al. Testosterone Replacement Effectively Inhibits the Development of Experimental Autoimmune Orchitis in Rats: Evidence for a Direct Role of Testosterone on Regulatory T Cell Expansion. *The Journal of Immunology*. 2011;186(9):5162-5172. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001958
- 116. Corcoran MP, Lichtenstein AH, Meydani M, Dillard A, Schaefer EJ, Lamon-Fava S. The effect of 17β-estradiol on cholesterol content in human macrophages is influenced by the lipoprotein milieu. *J Mol Endocrinol.* 2011;47(1):109-117. doi:10.1530/JME-10-0158
- 117. Xie F, Li X, Xu Y, et al. Estrogen Mediates an Atherosclerotic-Protective Action via Estrogen Receptor Alpha/SREBP-1 Signaling. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2022;9. doi:10.3389/fcvm.2022.895916
- 118. Taraborrelli S. Physiology, production and action of progesterone. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. 2015;94:8-16. doi:10.1111/aogs.12771
- 119. Prior JC, Elliott TG, Norman E, Stajic V, Hitchcock CL. Progesterone therapy, endothelial function and cardiovascular risk factors: A 3-month randomized, placebo-controlled trial in healthy early postmenopausal women. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(1). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0084698
- Kharazmi E, Dossus L, Rohrmann S, Kaaks R. Pregnancy loss and risk of cardiovascular disease: A prospective population-based cohort study (EPIC-Heidelberg). *Heart*. 2011;97(1):49-54. doi:10.1136/hrt.2010.202226
- 121. Arck P, Arck PC, Rücke M, et al. Early risk factors for miscarriage: a prospective cohort study in pregnant women. *Reprod Biomed Online*. 2008;17(1):101-113. doi:10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60300-8
- 122. Gorgels WJMJ, Graaf YYD, Bzankenstein MA, Colette HJA, E&lens DW, Bangu JD. Urinary Sex Hormone Excretions in Premenopausal Women and Coronary Heart Disease Risk: A Nested Case-Referent Study in the DOM-Cohort. J Clin Epidemiol. 1997;50(3):275-281.
- 123. Iorga A, Cunningham CM, Moazeni S, Ruffenach G, Umar S, Eghbali M. The protective role of estrogen and estrogen receptors in cardiovascular disease and the controversial use of estrogen therapy. *Biol Sex Differ*. 2017;8(1):33. doi:10.1186/s13293-017-0152-8



Supplementary Figure 1: Gene expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory markers in female-derived BMDMs pre-treated with 100 nM 17 β -estradiol (E2) or testosterone (TE). Female-derived BMDMs were pre-treated with 100 nM E2 or TE for 24 hours and polarized to pro- and anti-inflammatory BMDMs using LPS and IFN γ and IL-4, respectively, or the vehicle control, for 6 hours. Gene expression of **A., B.** iNOS, **C., D.** TNF- α , **E., F.** Fizz1, and **G., H.** Arg1 from E2- or TE-treated was quantified by RT-qPCR. Data shown represent the mean \pm SEM fold change (2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct}) in marker expression relative to reference gene β -actin, normalized to the vehicle control. Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test were performed to evaluate significant differences (n=4, *p<0.05, **p < 0.01, ****p < 0.0001).



Supplementary Figure 2: Protein concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines secreted by pro-inflammatory BMDMs derived from male and female mice. Bone marrow monocytes were differentiated into BMDMs, and cells were treated with LPS and IFN γ for 24 hours. Data shown represent the mean \pm SEM protein concentration of secreted cytokines and chemokines from cell culture media of BMDMs, quantified by an addressable laser bead immunoassay (ALBIA). Two-tailed unpaired t-test was used to evaluate significant differences. (n=5-8, *p<0.05).



Supplementary Figure 3: Protein concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines secreted by anti-inflammatory BMDMs derived from male and female mice. Bone marrow monocytes were differentiated into BMDMs, and cells were treated with IL-4 for 24 hours. Data shown represent the mean \pm SEM protein concentration of secreted cytokines and chemokines from cell culture media of BMDMs, quantified by an addressable laser bead immunoassay (ALBIA). Two-tailed unpaired t-test was used to evaluate significant differences. (n=5-8, *p<0.05).



Supplementary Figure 4. The effects of 100 nM testosterone (TE) on BMDM migration. Differentiated BMDMs from female mice were pre-treated with 100 nM TE and polarized to pro- or anti-inflammatory phenotypes. A Transwell migration assay was performed with or without chemoattractant CCL19 in culture medium of the lower assay chamber. Data represent the mean \pm SEM cell migration (%) of A. pro-inflammatory or B. anti-inflammatory BMDMs, normalized to the vehicle-treated control. Two-tailed, unpaired t-tests were performed to evaluate significant differences (n=4, p<0.05).